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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Administrator of
 The Additional Lottery System
San Juan, Puerto Rico

Report on the Basic Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of The Additional Lottery System
(from now on "the Lottery"), which comprise the statement of net position as of June 30, 2021, and the
related statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net deficit and cash flows for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Basic Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these basic financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error. 

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these basic financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the basic financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the basic financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the basic financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the basic financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the basic financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Lottery as of June 30, 2021 and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. 

Emphasis - of - Matter

Newly Adopted Standards

As discussed in Note 16 to the basic financial statements, the Lottery adopted new guidance of
GASB Statement No. 84 "Fiduciary Activities", and GASB Statement No. 90 "Majority Equity Interest
- An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61”. Our opinion is not modified with respect
to these matters.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires that the
management’s discussion and analysis, on pages 4 through 23, and the schedule of proportionate
share of the total pension liability, as part of employees' retirement systems information, on page 70,
and the schedule of proportionate share of the other postemployment benefits liability other than
pensions, on page 71, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.

Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by GASB, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide
any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards we have also issued our report dated November
15, 2022, on our consideration of the Lottery's internal control over financial reporting and our test of
its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
the



3

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards (Continued)

internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Lottery's internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

Torres, Hernández & Punter, CPA, PSC
Certified Public Accountants

Carolina, Puerto Rico

November 15, 2022

Stamp #E501718 of the 
College of CPA's of
Puerto Rico is affixed
to the original.
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 

Introduction 
 

The following management's discussion and analysis of the financial performance and activity of The 
Additional Lottery System (from now on "the Lottery") provides an introduction and understanding of the 
basic financial statements of the Lottery for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. This discussion 
was prepared by management and should be read in conjunction with the basic financial statements and 
the notes thereto, which follows this section. 

 
The Lottery was created by Law No. 10 of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (from now on "the 
Commonwealth") on May 24, 1989 and commenced operations effective June 1, 1990. The Lottery is an 
enterprise fund of the Commonwealth. 

 
The Lottery originates its revenues from two product lines: draw games and instant games. The Lottery 
develops multiple games themed and prize structures to comply with its enabling legislation and customer 
demands. Currently, the Lottery administers eight (8) games: Pega 4, Pega 3, Pega 2 and their 
variations, (Powerball, Powerplay), (Lotto and Multipicador), Revancha, Kino and instant games. Kino was 
added during November 2016 with draws from Monday through Saturday of each week. The Powerball 
and Powerplay games were added during the year ended June 30, 2015 with draws on Wednesday and 
Saturday of each week. During May 2021, The Lottery rebranded its Lotto games to “Loto Cash”, with 
draws on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday of each week. Independent and corporate retailers comprised 
principally of grocery and convenience stores, package food stores and restaurants serve as the primary 
distribution channel for online and instant lottery sales to the general public. Retailers received a 
commission of 5% of net sales plus 1% of net prizes paid on instant games. 
 
As provided by Law No. 10, the Lottery must transfer to the Commonwealth the income for each fiscal 
year, adjusted for any amount specifically authorized by the Commonwealth. 
 
The Lottery was established as a bureau of the Treasury Department of the Commonwealth (from now 
on "the Department"), which supervises and controls its operations. 

 
Financial Highlights 

 
 Payments to the Commonwealth were approximately $150.0 million in 2021 and $56.6 million in 

2020, an increase of $93.3 million or 164.7% from the previous year, 
 Lottery ticket sales were approximately $468.4 million in 2021 and $330.0 million in 2020, an increase 

of $138.4 million or 41.2% from the previous year, and 

 Prizes paid were approximately $268.9 million in 2021 and $233.1 million in 2020, an increase of 
$35.8 million or 15.3% from the previous year.
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Basic Financial Statements 
 

The basic financial statements provide information about the Lottery's activities. The basic financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). 
 
New Significant Accounting Standards Implemented 

 
During fiscal year 2021, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued the following statements 
that are effective during the fiscal year ended on June 30, 2021:  
 

(a) Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities – This statement has no effect on the basic financial 
statements of the Lottery. 

(b) Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests – This statement has no effect on the basic financial 
statements of the Lottery. 

 
These are further explained in Note 16 to the basic financial statements. 

 
Overview of the Basic Financial Statements 

 
The basic financial statements comprise three components: (1) management discussion and analysis, 
(2) basic financial statements, including statements of net position (deficit), statements of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net posit ion (deficit), statements of cash flows, and notes to the basic financial 
statements, and (3) required supplementary information. The basic financial statements were prepared on 
the accrual basis of accounting, meaning that all expenses are recorded when incurred and all revenues 
are recognized when earned, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America (US GAAP). 

 
 Statements of Net Position (Deficit) 

 
The statements of net position (deficit) reports all financial and capital resources of the Lottery. The 
statements are presented in the format where assets and deferred outflows of resources equal liabilities, 
deferred inflows of resources and net deficit. Assets and liabilities are presented in order of liquidity and 
are classified as current (convertible into cash within one year) and non-current. The focus of the 
statements of net deficits is to show a picture of the liquidity and health of the Lottery's financial position 
as of the end of the fiscal years. 

 
The Lottery's net position (deficit) are reported in the following categories: 

 
(c) Investment in Capital Assets - this component of net position consists of all capital assets, reduced 

by the outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the 
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets, and 

(d) Unrestricted - this component includes all net position (deficit) that does not meet the definition of 
net position invested in capital assets. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

  

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Overview of the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

 Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Deficit) 
 

The statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position (deficit) include operating revenues, 
which consist of sales of tickets, and operating expenses, such as prizes, salaries and employees’ 
benefits, commissions paid to retailers, online service fee and other administrative expenses; and non-
operating revenues, such as interests and investment income. The focus of the statements of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net deficits are the change in net position. This is similar to net income or loss 
and reflects the results of operations of the Lottery for the entire operating periods. 

 
 Statements of Cash Flows 

 
The statements of cash flows disclose net cash provided by or used for operating activities, investing 
activities, noncapital and related financing activities, and from capital and related financing activities. 
These statements also reflect the health of the Lottery in that current cash flows are sufficient to pay 
current liabilities. 
 
 Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
The notes to the basic financial statements are an integral part of the basic financial statements and 
describe the significant accounting policies, related-party transactions, deposits and investments, capital 
assets, long-term liabilities, defined-benefit pension plans, and the commitments and contingencies. The 
reader is encouraged to review the notes in conjunction with the management discussion and analysis 
and the financial statements. 

 
 Required Supplementary Information – Employee’s Retirement System 
 
The annual financial report includes two required supplementary schedules after the notes to the Basic 
Financial Statements. The Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Total Pension Liability is included as 
the result of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 73. 
 
 Required Supplementary Information – Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB) 
 
The annual financial report includes two required supplementary schedules after the notes to the Basic 
Financial Statements. The Schedule of Proportionate Share of Other Postemployment Benefits Liability is 
included as the result of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 75. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 

Overview of the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
 

Summary of Net Position (Deficit) (2021 and 2020) 
 

The following presents the Lottery's condensed statements of net position (deficit) as of June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

Increase/
2021 2020    (Decrease) 

Assets
Current Assets $69,784,749 $80,774,116 ($10,989,367)
Non-Current Assets:

Capital Assets 115,270 160,815 (45,545)
Prepaid Income Tax on Prizes 8,453,712 10,047,518 (1,593,806)
Prize Reserve to MUSL 2,691,082 2,750,910 (59,828)
Other 2,500 2,500 -                 

81,047,313 93,735,859 (12,688,546)
Deferred Outflow
Pension Related 37,473 25,308 12,165           
Other Postemployment Benefits Related 1,200 1,100             100                

38,673 26,408 12,265           

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 81,085,986 93,762,267 (12,676,281)

Liabilities
Current Liabilities 35,992,463 39,971,118 (3,978,655)
Non-Current Liabilities 45,080,436 53,773,708 (8,693,272)

Total Liabilities 81,072,899 93,744,826 (12,671,927)

Deferred Inflow
Pension Related 13,088 17,442 (4,354)            

Net Position (Deficit)
Investment in Capital Assets 115,270 160,815 (45,545)
Unrestricted Deficits (115,271) (160,816) 45,545

Net Position (Deficit) ($1) ($1) $0
 

 
 

Net position (assets and deferred outflows over liabilities and deferred inflows) may serve over time as a 
useful indicator of a governmental entity’s financial position. Net Deficit was $1 in both periods. 

 
Current assets consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable from retailers. Accounts 
receivables are generally settled on a weekly basis by a direct transfer from the retailers' bank account 
for the amount owned. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Summary of Net Position (Deficit) (2021 and 2020) (Continued) 
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, current assets decreased by $11.0 million in comparison to 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, principally due to the net effect of a decrease in cash and cash 
equivalents of $12.5 million and an increase in accounts receivable of $1.6 million.  

 
Non-current assets consist principally of amounts due by the Commonwealth. This amount consists 
principally of advances made during fiscal year 2021 based on estimates. 

 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, non-current assets decreased by $1.7 million due principally 
to the decrease in prepaid income tax on prizes of $1.6 million. The Lottery prepaid certain amount of the 
tax on prizes, to be paid between twenty (20) and thirty (30) year annuities. These taxes are amortized as 
prize expenses over the life of the annuity. 

 
Current liabilities consist principally of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, transfers due to the 
Commonwealth and the current portion of prizes payable. 

 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, current liabilities decreased by $4.0 million, principally due 
to a decrease of $4.0 million in prizes payable obligations. 

 
Non-current liabilities consist principally of the long-term portion of the annuity prize obligations. These 
liabilities are generally paid in annual installments over a period of twenty (20) and thirty (30) years. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This space was intentionally left blank. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 202and 2020 

 
 
 

Summary of Net Position (Deficit) (2020 and 2019) 
 

The following presents the Lottery's condensed statements of net position (deficit) as of June 30, 2020 and 2019: 
 

Increase/
2020 2019    (Decrease) 

Assets
Current Assets $80,774,116 $76,511,579 $4,262,537
Non-Current Assets:

Capital Assets 160,815 249,137 (88,322)
Prepaid Income Tax on Prizes 10,047,518 11,866,368 (1,818,850)
Prize Reserve to MUSL 2,750,910 2,688,173 62,737
Other 2,500 2,642 (142)

93,735,859 91,317,899 2,417,960
Deferred Outflow
Pension Related 25,308 7,713 17,595           
Other Postemployment Benefits Related 1,100 1,200             (100)               

26,408 8,913 17,495           

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows 93,762,267 91,326,812 2,435,455

Liabilities
Current Liabilities 39,971,117 33,548,199 6,422,918
Non-Current Liabilities 53,773,709 63,614,289 (9,840,580)

Total Liabilities 93,744,826 97,162,488 (3,417,662)

Deferred Inflow
Pension Related 17,442 19,114 (1,672)            

Net Position (Deficit)
Investment in Capital Assets 160,815 249,137 (88,322)
Unrestricted Deficits (160,816) (6,103,927) 5,943,111

Deficits ($1) ($5,854,790) $5,854,789
 

 
 
 

Net position (assets and deferred outflows over liabilities and deferred inflows) may serve over time as a 
useful indicator of a governmental entity’s financial position. Net Deficit decreased by 100% with respect 
to prior year. 

 
Current assets consist of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable from retailers. Accounts 
receivables are generally settled on a weekly basis by a direct transfer from the retailers' bank account 
for the amount owned. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 

Summary of Net Position (Deficit) (2020 and 2019) (Continued) 
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, current assets increased by $4.3 million in comparison to 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, principally due to the net effect of an increase in cash and cash 
equivalents of $9.3 million and a decrease in accounts receivable of $5.1 million. Accounts receivable 
decrease comes principally from $4.2 million collected from Lottery retailers on June 30, 2020, from the 
sales of lottery tickets. 

 
Non-current assets consist principally of amounts due by the Commonwealth. This amount consists 
principally of advances made during fiscal year 2020 based on estimates. 

 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, non-current assets decreased by $1.8 million due principally 
to the decrease in prepaid income tax on prizes of $1.8 million. The Lottery prepaid certain amount of the 
tax on prizes, to be paid between twenty (20) and thirty (30) year annuities. These taxes are amortized as 
prize expenses over the life of the annuity. 

 
Current liabilities consist principally of accounts payable and accrued liabilities, transfers due to the 
Commonwealth and the current portion of prizes payable. 

 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, current liabilities increased by $6.4 million, principally due to 
an increase of $3.3 million in transfers due to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and $3 million in 
estimated prize obligations. 

 
Non-current liabilities consist principally of the long-term portion of the annuity prize obligations. These 
liabilities are generally paid in annual installments over a period of twenty (20) and thirty (30) years. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This space was intentionally left blank. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
Summary of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Deficits) (2021 and 2020) 

 
The following presents a condensed summary of the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes 
in net position (deficits) for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

Increase/
2021 2020    (Decrease)  

Operating Revenues $468,401,867 $330,042,648 $138,359,219

Operating Expenses:
Direct Costs 308,620,707 261,131,854 47,488,853
General and Administrative 9,827,119 6,406,055 3,421,064

Total Operating Expenses 318,447,826 267,537,909 50,909,917

Income Before Payments to 
Commonwealth 149,954,041 62,504,739 87,449,302

Less Payments to Commonwealth 149,954,041 56,649,950 93,304,091

Change in Net Deficits 0 5,854,789 (5,854,789)

Net Position (Deficit)

Beginning of Year (1) (5,854,790) 5,854,789

End of Year ($1) ($1) $0
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This space was intentionally left blank. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Summary of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Deficit) (2021 and 2020) (Continued) 
 

Operating revenues consist of the sales of game tickets. The following chart summarizes the Lottery 
tickets sales for each game product for the years 2021 and 2020: 
 
 

 
 
 

When comparing year 2021 to year 2020, total tickets sales increased by approximately $138.4 million. 
Also, there is an increase in prizes paid to all games of approximately $35.8 million. The increase in ticket 
sales and prizes paid were due to the recovery from the effects of the Coronavirus Pandemic on the 
Lottery’s operation.

Pega 3 Pega 4 Pega 2 Powerball &
Powerplay

Instant Games Lotto Revancha Multiplicador Kino

2021 $135.3 $143.9 $1.3 $82.7 $68.3 $16.1 $12.3 $7.9 $0.6

2020 $99.0 $105.4 $1.0 $57.1 $42.2 $11.5 $8.5 $5.0 $0.4
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$120.0
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Summary of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Deficit) (2020 and 2019) 
 

The following presents a condensed summary of the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes 
in net position (deficit) for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019: 
 

Increase/
2020 2019    (Decrease)  

Operating Revenues $330,042,648 $466,189,560 ($136,146,912)
Non-Operating Revenues -                  70,344 (70,344)

Total Revenues 330,042,648 466,259,904 (136,217,256)

Operating Expenses:
Direct Costs 261,131,854 296,608,699 (35,476,845)
General and Administrative 6,406,055 4,274,672 2,131,383

Total Operating Expenses 267,537,909 300,883,371 (33,345,462)

Non-Operating Expenses -                  70,344 (70,344)

Income Before Payments to 
Commonwealth 62,504,739 165,306,189 (102,801,450)

Less Payments to Commonwealth 56,649,950 147,703,940 (91,053,990)

Change in Net Deficits 5,854,789 17,602,249 (11,747,460)

Net Deficits

Beginning of Year (5,854,790) (23,457,039) 17,602,249

End of Year ($1) ($5,854,790) $5,854,789
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 The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Summary of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Position (Net Deficit) (2020 and 2019) (Continued) 
 

Operating revenues consist of the sales of game tickets. The following chart summarizes the Lottery 
tickets sales for each game product for the years 2020 and 2019: 
 
 

Pega 3 Pega 4 Pega 2
Powerball &
Powerplay Instant Games Lotto Revancha Multiplicador Kino

2020 $99.0 $105.4 $1.0 $57.1 $42.2 $11.5 $8.5 $5.0 $0.4

2019 $138.1 $129.5 $1.4 $97.0 $55.5 $20.5 $15.0 $8.5 $0.8

$0.0

$20.0

$40.0

$60.0

$80.0

$100.0

$120.0

$140.0

$160.0

Ticket Sales for the Years 2020 and 2019

2020 2019

 
 
 

When comparing the year 2020 to year 2019, total tickets sales decreased by approximately $136.1 million. 
Also, there is a decrease in prizes paid to all games of approximately $24 million. The decrease in ticket 
sales and prizes paid were due to the effects of the Coronavirus Pandemic on the Lottery’s operation.
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 The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Net Ticket Sales (2021 and 2020) 
 

Net ticket sales for the fiscal years ended June 30, were as follows: 
 

Increase/
2021 2020    (Decrease) 

Pega 3
Night Draw $85,252,891 $64,765,963 $20,486,928
Day Draw 50,001,799 34,249,307 15,752,492

Pega 4
Night Draw 96,120,737 72,751,398 23,369,339
Day Draw 47,743,677 32,605,475 15,138,202

Pega 2
Night Draw 755,596 583,641 171,955
Day Draw 576,690 369,798 206,892

Powerball 57,004,194 39,412,094 17,592,100
Powerplay 25,712,348 17,644,750 8,067,598
Lotto 16,106,833 11,473,788 4,633,045
Revancha 12,342,341 8,522,126 3,820,215
Multiplicador 7,899,167 4,994,778 2,904,389
Kino 609,555 446,302 163,253
Instant Games 68,276,039 42,223,228 26,052,811

Total $468,401,867 $330,042,648 $138,359,219
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, there were six (6) big winners of Powerball, Lotto, and 
Revancha as compared to three (3) big winners of Lotto in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 as follows: 

2021 2020
Lotto Grand Prize Winners:

Annuity Payment - -
Lump Sum Payment 1 2
Unclaimed Prizes - 1

Revancha Prize Winners:
Lump Sum Payment 1 -
Unclaimed Prizes 1 -

Powerball & Powerplay Prize Winners:
Annuity Payment - -
Lump Sum Payment 3 -
Unclaimed Prizes - -

Total 6 3



16  

 

 
 

The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 

Net Ticket Sales (2021 and 2020) (Continued) 
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the three (3) largest prizes awarded for Powerball amounted 
to $2.0 million each, two (2) large prizes were awarded for Revancha amounting to $8.1 million and $1.5 
million, respectively; and the one (1) large prize for Lotto amounted to $5.7. In 2020, the two (2) largest 
prizes for Lotto amounted to $7.5 million. 

 
Prize expenses include the actual amounts paid plus the amortization of interests on the prizes’ annuity 
obligations. 

 
Prize expenses, by the different games offered by the Lottery, during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 
and 2020, were as follows: 

Increase/
2021 2020    (Decrease) 

Pega 3
Night Draw $49,298,700 $35,382,700 $13,916,000
Day Draw 25,872,755 15,006,460 10,866,295

Pega 4
Night Draw 58,355,330 75,764,410 (17,409,080)
Day Draw 21,375,630 23,904,370 (2,528,740)

Pega 2
Night Draw 390,410 301,200 89,210
Day Draw 270,570 168,375 102,195

Powerball 28,561,925 19,643,310 8,918,615
Powerplay 12,856,174 8,822,375 4,033,799
Lotto 14,348,799 17,927,034 (3,578,235)
Revancha 8,214,918 5,959,805 2,255,113
Multiplicador 4,738,793 3,022,508 1,716,285
Kino 373,181 251,232 121,949
Instant Games 44,230,595 26,981,279 17,249,316

Total $268,887,780 $233,135,058 $35,752,722
 

 
 
Prize expenses, as a percentage of ticket sales, was 57.4 % during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 
as compared to 70.6% during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The enabling law requires that at least 
45% of the ticket sales be returned to players in the form of prizes. 
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 The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Net Ticket Sales (2020 and 2019) 
 

Net ticket sales for the fiscal years ended June 30, were as follows: 
 

Increase/
2020 2019    (Decrease) 

Pega 3
Night Draw $64,765,963 $91,370,977 ($26,605,014)
Day Draw 34,249,307 46,751,778 (12,502,471)

Pega 4
Night Draw 72,751,398 91,354,088 (18,602,690)
Day Draw 32,605,475 38,130,357 (5,524,882)

Pega 2
Night Draw 583,641 807,666 (224,025)
Day Draw 369,798 554,554 (184,756)

Powerball 39,412,094 66,995,301 (27,583,207)
Powerplay 17,644,750 29,957,148 (12,312,398)
Lotto 11,473,788 20,520,112 (9,046,324)
Revancha 8,522,126 14,985,220 (6,463,094)
Multiplicador 4,994,778 8,468,212 (3,473,434)
Kino 446,302 752,302 (306,000)
Instant Games 42,223,228 55,541,845 (13,318,617)

Total $330,042,648 $466,189,560 ($136,146,912)
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, there were three (3) big winners of Powerball, Lotto, and 
Revancha as compared to eight (8) big winners of Powerball, Lotto and Revancha in the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2019 as follows: 

2020 2019
Lotto Grand Prize Winners:

Annuity Payment - 1
Lump Sum Payment 2 1
Unclaimed Prizes 1 -

Revancha Prize Winners:
Lump Sum Payment - 3
Unclaimed Prizes - -

Powerball & Powerplay Prize Winners:
Annuity Payment - -
Lump Sum Payment - 3
Unclaimed Prizes - -

Total 3 8
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 

Net Ticket Sales (2020 and 2019) (Continued) 
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the two (2) largest prizes for Lotto amounted to $7.5 million. 
In 2019, the three (3) largest prizes awarded for Powerball amounted to $2.0 million each, three (3) large 
prizes were awarded for Revancha amounting to $3.55 million, $1.15 million, and $0.2 million, 
respectively; and the two (2) largest prizes for Lotto amounted to $13 million and $2.45 million. 

 
Prize expenses include the actual amounts paid plus the amortization of interests on the prizes’ annuity 
obligations. 

 
Prize expenses, by the different games offered by the Lottery, during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 
and 2019, were as follows: 

Increase/
2020 2019    (Decrease) 

Pega 3
Night Draw $35,382,700 $48,012,900 ($12,630,200)
Day Draw 15,006,460 25,441,260 (10,434,800)

Pega 4
Night Draw 75,764,410 46,161,430 29,602,980
Day Draw 23,904,370 16,221,110 7,683,260

Pega 2
Night Draw 301,200 377,325 (76,125)
Day Draw 168,375 276,525 (108,150)

Powerball 19,643,310 32,912,348 (13,269,038)
Powerplay 8,822,375 14,981,330 (6,158,955)
Lotto 17,927,034 21,647,076 (3,720,042)
Revancha 5,959,805 9,381,178 (3,421,373)
Multiplicador 3,022,508 5,715,944 (2,693,436)
Kino 251,232 403,726 (152,494)
Instant Games 26,981,279 35,584,280 (8,603,001)

Total $233,135,058 $257,116,432 ($23,981,374)
 

 
 
Prize expenses, as a percentage of ticket sales, was 70.6 % during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 
as compared to 55.2% during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. The enabling law requires that at least 
45% of the ticket sales be returned to players in the form of prizes. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 

Prizes as a Percentage of Net Sales (2021 and 2020) 
 

The following chart compares the prizes, as a percentage of net sales, for each game product for the 
fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020: 
 

 
 

 

Lotto
Instant
Games

Multiplicador Pega 3
Powerball &
Powerplay

Revancha Pega 4 Pega 2 Kino

2021 89.1% 64.8% 60.0% 55.6% 50.1% 66.6% 55.4% 49.6% 61.2%

2020 156.2% 63.9% 60.5% 50.9% 49.9% 69.9% 94.6% 49.3% 56.3%
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 

Prizes as a Percentage of Net Sales (2020 and 2019) 
 

The following chart compares the prizes, as a percentage of net sales, for each game product for the 
fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019: 
 

 
 

 

Lotto
Instant
Games

Multiplicador Pega 3
Powerball &
Powerplay

Revancha Pega 4 Pega 2 Kino

2020 156.2% 63.9% 60.5% 50.9% 49.9% 69.9% 94.6% 49.3% 56.3%

2019 105.5% 64.1% 67.5% 53.2% 49.4% 62.6% 48.2% 48.0% 53.7%
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 The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 

Other Direct and Operating Expenses (2021 and 2020) 

The following chart summarizes the composition of other direct and operating expenses for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020: 

 

 

 
The Lottery pays 5% of net sales, of draw and instant games and 1% of net prizes paid on instant games, 
as commission to retailers. 

 
The Lottery has a contract with Scientific Games Puerto Rico, Inc. (from now on "Scientific Games") for 
online systems, service and other related fees. The amount paid to Scientific Games is based on a 
percentage of net sales, as defined in the contracts. The online and instant games service fee, as a 
percentage of net ticket sales, during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was 3.4% for both 
fiscal years. 

Retailer
Commisions

Draw/Instant
Service Fees Marketing

Salaries and Related
Benefits Pension Credit Other

2021 $23.8 $15.9 $7.6 $1.3 $0.0 $0.9

2020 $16.8 $11.2 $4.4 $1.2 (0.0) $0.8
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$10.0
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$25.0
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Other Direct and Operating Expenses for The Years 2021 and 2020
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 The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 

Other Direct and Operating Expenses (2021 and 2020) (Continued) 
 

The Lottery is required by law to transfer to the Commonwealth the net income after deducting the 
amounts required to pay for the current year annuity prize obligations. During the fiscal years ended June 
30, 2021 and 2020, the Lottery recorded transfers in the amount of $150.0 million and $56.7 million, 
respectively. This increase in payments to the Commonwealth is principally due to an increase of $87.4 
million in the net income from operations when compared to fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. 

 

Other Direct and Operating Expenses (2020 and 2019) 

The following chart summarizes the composition of other direct and operating expenses for the fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019: 

 

 

Retailer
Commisions

Draw/Instant
Service Fees

Marketing
Salaries and

Related Benefits
Pension Credit Other

2020 $16.8 $11.2 $4.4 $1.2 ($0.0) $0.8

2019 $23.7 $15.8 $9.0 $1.0 (6.4) $0.7
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)(Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

Other Direct and Operating Expenses (2020 and 2019) (Continued) 
 

The Lottery pays 5% of net sales, of draw and instant games and 1% of net prizes paid on instant games, 
as commission to retailers. 
 
The Lottery has a contract with Scientific Games Puerto Rico, Inc. (from now on "Scientific Games") for 
online systems, service and other related fees. The amount paid to Scientific Games is based on a 
percentage of net sales, as defined in the contracts. The online and instant games service fee, as a 
percentage of net ticket sales, during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was 3.4% for both 
fiscal years. 
 
The Lottery is required by law to transfer to the Commonwealth the net income after deducting the amounts 
required to pay for the current year annuity prize obligations. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 
and 2019, the Lottery recorded transfers in the amount of $56.7 million and $147.7 million, respectively. 
This decrease in payments to the Commonwealth is principally due to a decrease of $102.8 million in the 
net income from operations when compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. 
 
Net Position (Deficit) 

 
As of June 30, 2021 the Lottery has a Net Deficit of $1. This is the result of a special transfer in the amount 
of $200 million under Law 171 of the year 2005 and, in the opinion of management, is not an indication of 
financial difficulties as the Lottery has been and continues to be profitable. In addition, funds for the 
payments of annuity prizes obligations comes from funds generated from operations. During the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Lottery has generated sufficient funds for the payment of prizes. 
Nevertheless, management is aware of the financial difficulties of the Commonwealth, which in turn, may 
impact the Lottery's ability to pay all liabilities when due. 

 
Capital Assets 

 
The Lottery's investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 amounted to approximately 
$115,270 and $160,815, respectively, net of accumulated depreciation. Capital assets include machinery, 
equipment, furniture, and vehicles. 

 
Contacting the Lottery's Financial Management 

 
The management's discussion and analysis is designed to provide the citizens of Puerto Rico, the 
Commonwealth government officials, our players, retailers and other interested parties with an overview 
of the Lottery's financial activity for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and to demonstrate 
the Lottery's accountability for the money it received from the sale of the Lottery products. If you have any 
questions about this overview or need additional information, contact the Lottery's Finance Department 
at Fundación Angel Ramos Building, Suite 110, 383 Franklin D. Roosevelt Avenue, San Juan Puerto 
Rico, 00918-2143. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Statements of Net Position (Deficit)  

June 30, 2021 and 2020 
2021 2020

Assets

Current Assets:

Cash and Cash equivalents $67,849,886 $80,403,535

Accounts Receivable 1,934,863 370,581

Total Current Assets 69,784,749 80,774,116

Non-Current Assets:

Income Tax Prepaid to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 8,453,712 10,047,518

Prize Reserve MUSL 2,691,082 2,750,910

Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 115,270 160,815

Other 2,500 2,500

Total Non-Current Assets 11,262,564 12,961,743

Deferred Outflows of Resources:

Pension Related 37,473 25,308

Other Postemployment Benefits Related 1,200 1,100                

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 38,673 26,408

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 81,085,986 93,762,267

Liabilities

Current Liabilities:

Voluntary Retirement Benefits 70,023 86,388

Accrued Compensated Absences 125,361 88,277

Total Pension Liability 7,713 8,878                

Other Postemployment Benefits Liability 1,200 1,100                

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 3,470,288 5,915,968

Transfer Due to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 13,810,288 11,103,211

Due to MUSL 172,981              478,552            

Prizes payable:

Annuity Prize Obligation 8,680,295 9,802,374

Estimated Prize Obligation 3,540,000 6,650,000

Unclaimed 6,114,314 5,836,370

Total Current Liabilities 35,992,463 39,971,118

Non-Current Liabilities

Annuity Prize Obligations 44,658,892 53,339,187

Total Pension Liability 155,745 135,710

Other Postemployment Benefits Liability 14,194 13,373

Accrued Compensated Absences 106,789 75,199

Voluntary Retirement Benefits 144,816 210,239

Total Non-Current Liabilities 45,080,436 53,773,708

Total Liabilities 81,072,899 93,744,826

Deferred Inflows of Resources :

Pension Related 13,088 17,442

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources 81,085,987 93,762,268

Net Position (Deficit)

Investment in Capital Assets 115,270 160,815

Unrestricted Deficit (115,271) (160,816)

Net Position (Deficit) ($1) ($1)
 

 

See accompanying notes which are an integral part of the Basic Financial Statements. 
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The Additional Lottery System 

(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position (Deficit) 

 For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
 
 
 
 

2021 2020
Operating Revenues

Draw Games $400,125,828 $287,819,420

Instant Games 68,276,039 42,223,228

Total Operating Revenues 468,401,867 330,042,648

Operating Expenses

Direct Costs:

Prize Expenses 268,887,780 233,135,058

Retailers Commissions 23,848,603 16,790,181

Draw and Instant Services Fees 15,884,324 11,206,615

Salaries and Related Benefits 1,367,542 1,197,179

Pension Expense (Credit) 2,351              (3,368)            

Other Postemployment Benefits 821                125                

Marketing Expenses 7,590,640 4,434,129

General and Administrative 865,765 777,990

Total Operating Expenses 318,447,826 267,537,909

Operating Income 149,954,041 62,504,739

Income Before Payments to the Commonwealth 149,954,041 62,504,739

Payments to the Commonwealth (149,954,041) (56,649,950)

Change in Net Position -                 5,854,789

Net Position (Deficit)

Net (Deficit), Beginning of Year (1) (5,854,790)

Net Position (Deficit), End of Year ($1) ($1)
 

 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes which are an integral part of the Basic Financial Statements. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Statements of Cash Flows 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 
 

2021 2020

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Cash Received From Retailers, Net of Commissions and Incentives $442,683,411 $318,125,052

Cash Paid for Prizes and Related Taxes (279,928,404) (240,128,213)

Cash Paid to Suppliers for Goods and Services (26,706,784) (14,053,667)

Cash Paid to Employees (1,320,828) (1,291,445)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 134,727,395 62,651,727

Cash Flows From Non-Capital Financing Activities
Payments to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (136,143,753) (45,546,739)

Amount Due to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (11,103,211) (7,783,455)

Net Cash Used in Non-Capital Financing Activities (147,246,964) (53,330,194)

Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Purchase of Capital Assets and Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (34,080)            -                   

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (12,553,649) 9,321,533

Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Beginning of Year 80,403,535 71,082,002

End of Year $67,849,886 $80,403,535
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

See accompanying notes which are an integral part of the Basic Financial Statements. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 
 

2021 2020

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
 Provided by Operating Activities

Operating Income $149,954,041 $62,504,739

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to 
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation 79,625 88,322
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Accounts Receivable (1,564,282) 5,058,996
Prepaid Income Tax to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 1,593,806 1,818,850
Due From MUSL (305,571) (186,411)
Prize Reserve MUSL 59,828 (62,737)
Deferred Outflows (12,265)              (17,495)              
Other Assets -                     142
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (2,377,006) 2,316,486
Current Portion of Voluntary Retirement Benefits (81,788)              (71,412)
Total Net Pension & Other Postemployment Benefits Liability 19,791               15,924               
Deferred Inflows (4,354)                (1,672)                
Prizes Payable (12,634,430) (8,812,005)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $134,727,395 $62,651,727

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
See accompanying notes which are an integral part of the Basic Financial Statements. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 

1. ORGANIZATION 
 

The Additional Lottery System (from now on "the Lottery") was created by Law No. 10 of the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (from now on "the Commonwealth") on May 24, 1989 and commenced 
operations effective June 1, 1990. The Lottery is an enterprise fund of the Commonwealth. 

 
The Lottery originates its revenues from two product lines: draw games and instant games. The Lottery 
develops multiple games themed and prizes structures to comply with its enabling legislation and 
customer demands. Currently the Lottery administers eight (8) games: Pega 4, Pega 3, Pega 2 and their 
variations, (Powerball, Powerplay), (Lotto and Multipicador), Revancha, Kino and instant games. During 
the year ended June 30, 2015, Powerball and Powerplay games were added with draws on Wednesday 
and Saturday each week. During May 2021, The Lottery rebranded its Lotto games to “Loto Cash” with 
draws on Monday, Wednesday, and Friday of each week. Independent and corporate retailers comprised 
principally of grocery and convenience stores, package foods stores, and restaurants serve as the primary 
distribution channel for online and instant lottery sales to the general public. Retailers received a 
commission of 5% of net sales plus 1% of net prizes paid on instant games. 

 
As provided by Law No. 10, the Lottery must transfer to the Commonwealth the net income for each 
fiscal year, adjusted for any amount specifically authorized by the Commonwealth. 

 
 

FINANCIAL REPORTING ENTITY 
 

The financial reporting entity included in this report consists of the basic financial statements of the Lottery 
(primary government). To fairly present the financial position and the results of operations of the financial 
reporting entity, management must determine whether its reporting entity consists of only the legal entity 
known as the primary government or one or more organizations called component units. The inclusion of 
a potential component unit in the primary government's reporting entity depends on whether the primary 
government is financially accountable for the potential component unit or on whether the nature and 
significance of the relationship with the primary government is such that exclusion would cause the 
reporting entity's basic financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 

 
GASB Accounting Standards Codification Section 2100, "Defining the Financial Reporting Entity", 
describes the criteria for determining which organizations, functions, and activities should be considered 
part of the Lottery for financial reporting purposes. Following GASB Sections 2100 and 2600 "Reporting 
Entity and Component Unit Presentation and Disclosure", there are two methods of presentation of the 
component unit in the basic financial statements: (a) blending the financial data of the component units' 
balances and transactions in a manner similar to the presentation of the Lottery's balances and (b) discrete 
presentation of the component unit's financial data in columns separate from the Lottery's balances and 
transactions. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

1. ORGANIZATION (CONTINUED) 
 

The basic criteria for deciding financial accountability are any one of the following: 
 

 Financial dependency of the potential component unit on the primary government, or 
 The primary government appoints a voting majority of the potential component unit's governing body 

and, 
 

1. The primary government can impose its will on the potential component unit and/or, 
2. A financial benefit/burden exists between the primary government and the potential component 

unit. 
 

In addition, a legally separate, tax-exempt organization should be discretely presented as a component 
unit of a reporting entity if all the following criteria are met: 

 
 The economic resources received or held by the separate organization are entirely or almost entirely 

for the direct benefit of the primary government, its component units, or its constituents, 
 The primary government, or its component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access a 

majority of the economic resources received or held by the separate organization, and 
 The economic resources received or held by an individual organization that the specific primary 

government, or its component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, are significant 
to the primary government. 

Other organizations should be evaluated as potential component units if they are closely related to, or 
financially integrated with, the primary government. Professional judgment is applied in determining 
whether the relationship between a primary government and other organizations for which the primary 
government is not accountable and that do not meet these criteria is such that exclusion of the organization 
would render the financial statements of the reporting entity misleading or incomplete. 

 
GASB Statement 61, "The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 
14 and No. 34", provides additional criteria for classifying entities as component units to better assess the 
accountability of elected officials by ensuring that the financial reporting entity includes only organizations 
for which the elected officials are financially accountable or that are determined by the government to be 
misleading to exclude. 

 
Based on the above criteria, the basic financial statements of the Lottery do not include any component 
units. 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The accounting and reporting policies of the Lottery conform to accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America (US GAS), as applicable to governmental entities. Such principles are 
prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standard Boards (GASB), which is the standard setting body 
for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles in the United States of America. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

The Lottery is considered a special-purpose government engaged only in business-type activities under 
GASB Statement No. 34, "Basic Financial Statements and Management's Discussion and Analysis for 
State and Local Governments". Accordingly, only those statements required for enterprise funds are 
presented as basic financial statements. 

 
The Lottery follows GASB Statement No. 76, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Principles for State 
and Local Governments”, in the preparation of its Basic Financial Statements. The following is a description 
of the Lottery's most significant accounting policies: 

 
(a) Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

Financial Statements Presentation 

The Lottery reports its financial position and results of operations as an enterprise fund. Financial 
statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting. Proprietary funds are used to account for business - type activities, which are financed 
mainly by fees and charges to users of the services provided by the funds operations, designed to 
recover its costs, including capital costs such as depreciation and debt service. Proprietary funds 
distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non - operating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection 
with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. All revenues and expenses not meeting this 
definition are reported as non - operating revenues and expenses. 

 
Required Supplementary Information - Management's Discussion and Analysis 

 
Management’s discussion and analysis is required supplementary information that introduces the basic 
financial statements and provides an analytical overview of the Lottery’s financial activities. This 
analysis is similar to the analysis the private sector provides in their annual reports. 

 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 

 
The notes to the financial statements provide information that is essential to a user’s full understanding 
of the data provided in the basic financial statements. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting - (Continued) 
 

Required Supplementary Information - 
 

GASB Statement No. 73, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pension Plans not within the Scope 
of GASB 68”, the required supplementary information includes the Schedule of Proportionate Share of 
the Total Pension Liability. 
 
GASB Statement No. 75 “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits other than 
Pensions”, the required supplementary information include the Schedule of Proportionate Share of 
Total OPEB Liability. 

 
(b) Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Management periodically evaluates 
estimates used in the preparation of the basic financial statements for continued reasonableness. 
Appropriate adjustments, if any, to the estimates used are made prospectively based upon such 
periodic evaluation. 

 
(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
In the statement of cash flows, cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are so near to their maturity that they present 
insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates. They include cash on hand 
and on deposit and short-term investments with maturities of three months or less. 

 
(d) Operating Revenues and Expenses 

 
The Lottery distinguishes between operating and non-operating revenues and expenses in its 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Deficits. Operating revenues and expenses 
are those that result from providing services that correspond to the principal ongoing operations. 
Operating revenues consist principally of sales of tickets and operating expenses consist principally 
of prizes awarded, commissions to retailers, personnel costs, and marketing expenses. Revenues and 
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses. 

 
(e) Accounts Receivable 

 
Accounts receivable represent the amount due from Lottery retailers, from the sales of lottery tickets, 
and is guaranteed by an insurance bond provided by the retailer. This amount is collected weekly from 
the retailer bank account to the Lottery bank account. The Lottery utilizes the allowance method to 
provide for doubtful accounts based on management's evaluation of the collectible of accounts 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Accounts Receivable (Continued) 
 

receivable. Receivables are written off when it is determined that amounts are uncollectible. As of June 
30, 2021 and 2020, management believes all accounts receivable are collectible, and, as such, no 
allowance for doubtful accounts has been recorded. 

 
(f) Capital Assets and Depreciation Policy 

 
Capital assets, which consist principally of motor vehicles and furniture and fixtures, are recorded at 
historical cost. A capital asset is defined by the Lottery as an asset with an initial cost of more than 
$500 and an estimated useful life of more than 2 years. Depreciation is computed on a straight-line 
method over the estimated useful life of the related asset. Maintenance and repairs are charged to 
operations, while renewals and betterments are capitalized. When property and equipment are 
disposed of, the cost and any applicable accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed 
from the respective accounts and the resulting gain or loss is recorded in operations. 

 
The estimated useful lives of the major classes of capital assets are as follows: 

 
Office Furniture, Computers, Equipment and Fixtures 2-3 years 
Motor Vehicles 5 years 

 
(g) Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long - Lived Assets 

 
The Lottery follows GASB Statement No. 42, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairment of 
Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries”. This Statement establishes accounting and financial 
reporting standards for impairment of capital assets. A capital asset is considered impaired when its 
service utility has declined significantly and unexpectedly. This Statement also clarifies and establishes 
accounting requirements for insurance recoveries. During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Lottery 
evaluated its capital assets for impairment under the guidance of this Statement and determined that 
the possible impairment amount, if any, would not have a material impact in the Lottery’s basic financial 
statements. See also Note 4. 

 
(h) Net Position (Deficit) 

 
Net position (deficit) is classified in the following two components in the accompanying statements of 
net position (deficit): 

 
Investment in Capital Assets 

 

The investment in capital assets component of net position (deficit) consists of capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of borrowings that are attributable to 
the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. As of June 30, 2021, there are no 
outstanding balances of borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement 
of those assets. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(h)  Net Position (Deficit) - (Continued) 

Unrestricted (Deficit) 

The unrestricted component of net position (deficit) is the net amount of the assets, deferred outflows 
of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the determination of 
net investment in capital assets. 

 
(i) Revenue Recognition 

 
Revenues from games are recognized in the month in which the related drawings are held. Revenues 
from sales of tickets and commission paid for future drawings are deferred until the drawings are held. 

 
 

(j) Prizes 
 

Regulation No. 7331 requires that 45% of ticket sales be awarded to the public in the form of prizes. 
 

Prize expenses for draw games are recorded based on prizes won by the players, as revenue is 
recognized. Prize expenses for instant games are recognized based on the predetermined prize 
structure for each game, as revenue is recognized. Any prize that remains uncollected after 180 
days after ending validation date is considered unclaimed. 

 
Effective May 17, 2021, Lotto jackpot prize and their variations were paid in lump sum payments. Lotto 
jackpot prizes between May 20, 2016 and May 17, 2021 were paid as annuities over a period of 30 
years or a lump sum payment equal to 50% of the Lotto jackpot prize and their variations. Annuity 
payments before this date will remain over a period of 20 years or a lump sum payment equal to 45% 
of the Lotto jackpot. All other prizes are paid in a lump sum. 

 
All prizes are recorded at the actual amounts except for annually funded prizes, which are paid out 
on a deferred basis. The actual prize expenses for this type of prize are based on the present value of 
an annuity using the rates as published by the Federal Reserve in the Treasury Constant Annuity for 
a 30-year annuity. 

 
(k) Retailer Commissions 

 
The Lottery compensates authorized operators of betting machines. The commission is computed at 
5% of bets placed at each location on draw and instant games plus 1 % of net prizes paid on instant 
games. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(l) Compensated Absences 
 

As of the effectiveness of Act No. 8 of February 26, 2017, named "Law for the Administration and 
Transformation of Human Resources in the Government of Puerto Rico", every government employee 
shall be entitled to accrue one and one-fourth (1¼) day of vacation leave for every month  of service. 
The employees shall begin to accrue the vacation leave upon completion of a three (3) - month period 
and said leave shall be retroactive to the employment commencement date. Furloughed or part-time 
employees shall accrue vacation leave proportionately to the number of hours regularly worked. The 
vacation leave may be accrued up to a maximum of sixty (60) workdays at the end of any calendar 
year. Vacation leave is granted to employees in order to allow them a reasonable annual rest period. 
As a general rule, said leave shall be used during the calendar year in which it was accrued. Every 
agency or public instrumentality is required to devise a vacation plan for every calendar year, in 
collaboration with supervisors and employees, establishing the period during which employees shall 
enjoy their vacation time in the manner that is more compatible with the needs for service. Said 
plan shall be completed no later than on December 31st of every year, so     that it takes effect on 
January 1st of the following year. 
 
The Lottery accrued a liability for compensated absences, which meet the following criteria: (1) the 
Lottery’s obligation relating to employee’s right to receive compensation for future absences is 
attributable to employee’s services already rendered; (2) the obligation relates to rights that vest or 
accumulate; (3) payment of the compensation is probable; and (4) the amount can be reasonably 
estimated. 

 
In accordance with the above criteria and requirements in conformance with GASB Accounting 
Standards Codification Section C60, "Compensated Absences", the Lottery has accrued a liability for 
compensated absences, which has been earned but not taken by the Lottery’s employees, including 
its share of social security and Medicare payments made on behalf of the employees in the accrual for 
vacation and sick leave pay using salary rates effective as of June 30, 2021. All vacation pay is accrued 
when incurred. The current portion presented in the statement of net deficits is the amount estimated 
to be used in the following year. 

 
(m) Accounting for Pension Costs 

 
The Lottery accounts for pension costs in accordance with the requirements of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 73 “Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments 
to Certain Provisions of GASB Statements 67 and 68”. 
 
The objective of this Statement is to improve the usefulness of information about pensions included in 
the general purpose external financial reports of state and local governments for making decisions and 
assessing accountability. This Statement results from a comprehensive review of the effectiveness of 
existing standards of accounting and financial reporting for all postemployment benefits with regard to 
providing decision-useful information, supporting assessments of accountability and interperiod equity, 
and creating additional transparency. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

This Statement establishes requirements for defined benefit pensions that are not within the scope of 
GASB Statement No. 68, “Accounting for Financial Reporting of Pensions”, as well as for the assets 
accumulated for purposes of providing those pensions. In addition, it establishes requirements for 
defined contribution pensions that are not within the scope of Statement 68. It also amends certain 
provisions of GASB Statement No. 67, “Financial Reporting for Pension Plans”, and Statement No. 68 
for pension plans and pensions that are within their respective scopes. 
 
Act No. 3 enacted on April 4, 2013, amended Act No. 447 for the purpose of establishing a major reform 
of the ERS effective on July 1, 2013. After that, and based on the fiscal crisis of the Commonwealth, 
was enacted Act No. 106 of 2017 to establish a New Define Contribution Plan and create the Pay-as-
you-go (PayGo) scheme for payment of pensioners of the ERS and the other two retirement systems. 
As a result of the implementation of the PayGo system, the plan does not meet the criteria in paragraph 
4 of GASB Statement No. 68, to be considered a plan that is administered through a trust or equivalent 
arrangement, and therefore, is required to apply the guidance on GASB Statement No. 73. See also 
Note 11. 

 
Measurement Frequency and Valuation Requirements 

 
The Total Pension Liability should be measured as of a date no earlier than the end of the employer’s 
prior fiscal year, consistently applied from period to period (measurement date). The Total Pension 
Liability can be measured from an actuarial valuation as of the measurement date or roll forward 
amounts from an actuarial valuation as of a date no more than 30 months plus 1 day prior to the 
employer’s most recent fiscal year-end. The actuarial valuation should be performed at least biennially. 

 
(n) Accounting for Postemployment Benefit Costs Other than Pensions 

 
Other postemployment benefits (“OPEB”) expenses are recognized and disclosed using the accrual 
basis of accounting. The Lottery recognized the total OPEB liability since the Lottery’s OPEB program 
is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, and not by an OPEB trust. Changes in the total OPEB liability during 
the period are recorded as OPEB expense, or as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of 
resources depending on the nature of the change, in the period incurred. Those changes in the total 
OPEB liability that are recorded as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources that 
arise from changes in actuarial assumptions or other inputs and differences between expected or actual 
experience are amortized over the average of the remaining life of all participants including retirees and 
recorded as a component of OPEB expense beginning with the period in which they arose. The Lottery 
accounted for postemployment benefits other than pensions (OPEB) under the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 75 “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than 
Pensions”. See also Note 12. 

 
(o) Voluntary Termination Benefits 

 
The Lottery accounts for termination benefits in accordance with the provisions of GASB Statement No. 
47, “Accounting for Termination Benefits”. This Statement establishes accounting standards for 
termination benefits Pursuant to this Statement, the Lottery should recognize a liability and expense for 
voluntary termination (for example, early retirement incentives) when the offer is accepted, and the 
amount can be estimated. See also Note 13. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(p) Risk Management 
 

The Commonwealth purchases commercial insurance covering casualties, theft, tort, claims, and 
other losses, including the Lottery as an insured operation. The current insurance policies have not 
been cancelled or terminated. Workmen's compensation insurance is provided by the State Insurance 
Fund, a component unit of the Commonwealth. The Lottery has not settled any claims in excess of its 
insurance coverage during the past three (3) years. 

 
3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
Cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following: 
 

 

Book Balance
Depository 

Bank Balance
2021

Cash Deposited in Local Commercial Banks 67,849,786$    70,070,096$    
Cash on Hand 100                  100                  

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 67,849,886$    70,070,196$    

Book Balance
Depository 

Bank Balance
2020

Cash Deposited in Local Commercial Banks 80,403,435$    80,403,435$    
Cash on Hand 100                  100                  

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 80,403,535$    80,403,535$    
 

 

The Lottery is restricted by law to deposit funds only in institutions approved by the Puerto Rico Treasury 
Department, and such deposits are required to be kept in separate accounts in the name of the Lottery. 
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3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)    

Custodial Credit Risk 
 

For deposits, custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Lottery's deposits may 
not be returned to it. Under Puerto Rico statutes, public funds deposited in local commercial banks must be 
fully collateralized for the amount deposited in excess of federal depository insurance. All securities 
pledged as collateral are held by the Secretary of the Treasury of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. The 
bank balance of the Lottery's deposits in commercial banks as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 amounted to 
approximately $67.8 million and $80.4 million, respectively, which are fully collateralized as previously 
described. It is the Lottery’s policy to only maintain deposits in banks affiliated to FDIC to minimize the 
custodial credit risk. 

 
Impaired Deposits with Governmental Development Bank of Puerto Rico (GDB) 

 
Deposits held with the Government Development Bank for Puerto Rico (GDB), a discretely presented 
component unit of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, amounted to $11,714,711 as of June 30, 2021 and 
2020. On March 23, 2018, GDB ceased its operations as part of winding down in an orderly fashion under 
Title VI of PROMESA. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the entire balance of the deposits held with GDB was 
considered not realizable. 

On May 15, 2017, the Puerto Rico Fiscal Agency and Financial Advisory Authority (FAFAA) and the 
Government Development Bank for Puerto Rico (GDB) entered into a Restructuring Support Agreement 
(the “RSA”) with a significant portion of the GDB’s creditors. The parties to the RSA agreed to undertake a 
financial restructuring of the GDB pursuant to a Qualifying Modification under Title VI of PROMESA (the 
“Qualifying Modification”). On November 6, 2018, the Qualifying Modification was approved by the Federal 
Court. On November 29, 2018, the FAFAA and the GDB announced the consummation of the Qualifying 
Modification. 

Pursuant to Act No. 109-2017, also known as the Government Development Bank for Puerto Rico Debt 
Restructuring Act (the “GDB Restructuring Act”), claims on account of deposits held by the Commonwealth 
and other public entities, including the Lottery, will be exchanged for interest in the Public Entity Deed of 
Trust created pursuant to the GDB Restructuring Act. Specifically, pursuant to the GDB Restructuring Act, 
on the closing date of the Qualifying Modification (the “Closing Date”), the balance of liabilities owed 
between the Commonwealth and its agents, instrumentalities and affiliates, (each a “Non-Municipal 
Government Entity”) and the GDB will be determined by applying the outstanding balance of any deposits 
held at GDB in a Non-Municipal Government Entity’s name against the outstanding balance of any loan of 
such Non-Municipal Government Entity owed to the GDB or of any bond or note of such Non-Municipal 
Government Entity held by the GDB as of such date. Those Non-Municipal Government Entities having net 
claims against the GDB, after giving effect to the foregoing adjustment, including the Lottery, will receive 
their pro rata share of interests in the Public Entity Trust (PET), which will be deemed to be full satisfaction 
of any and all claims such Non-Municipal Government Entity may have against GDB. 

As a result of the Qualifying Modification, the Lottery’s recovery on account of its deposits at the GDB will 
depend upon the recovery received by the Public Entity Trust on account of the PET Assets. 

As further described in Note 17, On March 15, 2022 the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment became 
effective. The Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment discharged any claim related to budgetary appropriations, 
including appropriations for the repayment of certain loans held by the Public Entity Trust. 
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Capital assets activity as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 was as follows: 
 

2021
July 1, 2020 Increases Decreases June 30, 2021

Computers, Furniture's and Other 
Office Equipment

973,775$       34,080$         -$               1,007,855$    

Motor Vehicles 96,246 -                 -                 96,246

Total 1,070,021 34,080           -                 1,104,101

Less Accumulated Depreciation (909,206) (79,625) -                 (988,831)

Capital Assets, net 160,815$       (45,545)$        -$               115,270$       

2020
July 1, 2019 Increases Decreases June 30, 2020

Computers, Furniture's and Other 
Office Equipment

973,775$       -$               -$               973,775$       

Motor Vehicles 96,246 -                 -                 96,246

Total 1,070,021 -                 -                 1,070,021

Less Accumulated Depreciation (820,884) (88,322) -                 (909,206)

Capital Assets, Net 249,137$       (88,322)$        -$               160,815$       
 

 
 

GASB No. 42 requires the recognition of capital asset impairments as soon as they occur. Losses from 
permanent impairments should be recognized in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in 
Net Deficits in accordance with paragraphs 41-46, 55, 56, 101 and 102 of GASB No. 34. The restoration 
or replacement of the impaired capital asset should be reported as a separate transaction from the 
impairment loss and insurance recovery. Nevertheless, no capital assets were impaired as a result of these 
events. 
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5. INCOME TAX PREPAID TO COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO 
 

The law requires the Lottery to remit withheld taxes to the Commonwealth on certain prizes. The tax is 
based on a progressive tax table up to 20% of the prize. In cases where the prize will be payable in annual 
annuities, the Lottery prepays a certain amount of the total tax that will be paid over the life of the annuity. 
This amount is recorded as a prepaid income tax and amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
annuity, which generally is 20 or 30 years. 

 
6. PARTICIPATION IN MULTI-STATE LOTTERY ASSOCIATION 

 
The Lottery became a member of the Multi-State Lottery Association (from now on "MUSL") on August 
2014. MUSL is a non-profit government-benefit association created for the purpose of administering 
joint lottery games. MUSL includes thirty-five (35) states and territories lottery entities. Through 
membership in the association the Lottery is eligible to participate in Powerball with Powerplay game. 
The chief executive officer of each member lottery serves on the MUSL board of directors. 

 
As member of MUSL, the Lottery is required to contribute to various prize reserve funds maintained by 
MUSL. The prize reserve funds serve as a contingency reserve to protect MUSL from unforeseen prize 
payments. MUSL periodically reallocates the prize reserve funds among the states based on relative 
Powerball with Powerplay with sales levels. All remaining funds remitted, and the related interest earnings 
(net of administrative cost), will be returned to the Lottery upon leaving MUSL, less any portion of 
unanticipated prize claims that may have been paid from the fund. 
 
As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, the Lottery had deposits with MUSL of $2,691,082 and 
$2,750,910, respectively, representing the Lottery’s deposits of reserve funds. 
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7. PRIZES PAYABLE 

Annuity Prize Obligations 

The Lottery carries long-term annuity price obligations at present value. Presented below is a summary 
of long-term annuity price payment requirements for annuities payable to maturities: 

 

Years Ending 
June 30,

Principal 
Imputed 
Interests

Totals 

2022 $8,680,295 $6,958,871 $15,639,166
2023 7,528,020 6,198,645 13,726,665
2024 6,594,625 5,532,042 12,126,667
2025 5,773,797 4,757,870 10,531,667
2026 5,074,774 4,106,892 9,181,666

2027-2031 15,547,936 11,135,397 26,683,333
2032-2036 3,645,366 2,662,967 6,308,333
2037-2041 227,292 181,042 408,334
2042-2046 196,283 212,050 408,333
2047-2048 70,799 92,535 163,334

$53,339,187 $41,838,311 $95,177,498
 

 

This debt represents annual payments owned to Lotto jackpot winners. Annuity prizes will be paid over a 
period of 30 years. The imputed interest is based on the rates published by the Federal Reserve for 30-
year annuities and ranged from 2.65% to 3.81% at June 30, 2021 and 2020. The amortization of the 
imputed interest is recorded as prize expense in the accompanying statement of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net deficit. Activity of annuity prizes payable for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 
were as follows: 

 

 Years Ended
Beginning 
Balance

Increases Decreases Ending Balance
Due Within 
One Year 

June 30, 2021 63,141,561$     -$               (9,802,374)$       53,339,187$      8,680,295$    

June 30, 2020 74,583,708$     -$               (11,442,147)$     63,141,561$      9,802,374$    

 

Estimated Prize Liability 
 

The estimated price liability as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 represents the Lottery's estimate of prizes 
payable related to games in process at year-end, based on the predetermined prize structure of each 
outstanding game. 
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7. PRIZES PAYABLE (CONTINUED) 

Unclaimed Prize Liability 

Any prize that remains unclaimed at the end of 180 days following the draw is considered unclaimed 
and, in accordance with the enabling law, the unclaimed prize is paid or transferred to the Commonwealth 
of Puerto Rico. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, a total of approximately $10.091 
million and $8.566 million, respectively, of unclaimed prizes were transferred to the Commonwealth. 

 
8. TRANSFERS DUE TO THE COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO 

 
The Lottery must transfer the net income, after deducting the amount required for payment of prize 
annuities and operating expenses to the Commonwealth. The following reconciles the amounts 
transferred to the Commonwealth during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. 

 
2021 2020

Transfers Due at Beginning of Year 11,103,211$    7,783,455$      
Add Net Income Available for Transfers 161,944,534    73,851,620      

Less Amount Retained for the Payment of Prize Annuities -                   (5,854,791)

Total Amount Available for Transfers 173,047,745    75,780,284      
Gross Transfers Made During the Year 159,237,457 64,677,073

Transfers Due at the End of the Year 13,810,288$    11,103,211$    
 

In compliance with Act No. 10 of May 1989, as amended, the Lottery allocated the income available for 
transfer, net of amount retained for the payment of prizes annuities, during the fiscal years ended June 
30, 2021 and 2020 to the following beneficiary funds of the Commonwealth: 

 
2021 2020

Commonwealth of Puerto Rico:
Rent and Home Improvement Subsidy Fund 12,415,020$    11,548,983$    
Compulsive Gamblers 250,000           250,000           
Municipal Equivalency Fund 48,138,657      17,834,514      
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico General Fund 74,533,986      13,180,264      
Catastrophic Diseases 1,788,007        662,425           
University of Puerto Rico Scholarships Fund 2,628,371        973,764           
Chess Program 200,000           200,000           
Olympic Village "German Rieckehoff Sampayo" 2,000,000        4,000,000        
Olympic Committee 8,000,000 8,000,000

Total 149,954,041$  56,649,950$    
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9. PAYROLL AND RELATED BENEFITS 
 

All Lottery personnel are employees of the Treasury Department of the Commonwealth. During the fiscal 
years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Lottery incurred in $1.4 million and $1.2 million, respectively, 
each year for payroll and benefits costs, including pension, health insurance and other benefits costs paid 
to the Treasury Department who responsible for the administration of the benefit programs. 

 
10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Servicing and Marketing Contract 

The Lottery has a contract with Scientific Games Puerto Rico, Inc. (from now on "SG") to provide on- 
line gaming system and the associated services. The contract requires SG, among others, to provide 
terminals to all retailers, with the related software and communication systems. Payment under the 
contract is based on 3.4% of total lottery net sales, including services related to sales of instant games, 
at a rate of 3.4% of all such sales. The contract is effective from July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2024, subject 
to extension pursuant to the mutual agreement. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, 
SG charged the Lottery approximately $15.9 million and $11.2 million, respectively, for services performed 
under the contract. 

 
11. EMPLOYEE’S RETIRMENT PLAN 

 
The Employees’ Retirement System of the Government of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (ERS) is a 
multi-employer defined benefit plan administered by the Retirement System Board. 
 
The Lottery accounts for pension liability based on actuarial valuations measured as of the beginning of 
the year (June 30, 2019). The Lottery’s retirement plan was administered as trusts following the guidance 
in GASB Statement No. 73 since there are no assets accumulated in trusts meeting the following criteria 
established by GASB Statement No. 68: 
 
 Contributions from employers and nonemployer contributing entities to the pension plan and earnings 

on those contributions are irrevocable. 

 Pension plan assets are dedicated to providing pensions to plan members in accordance with the 
benefit terms. 

 Pension plan assets are legally protected from the creditors of employers, nonemployer contributing 
entities, and the pension plan administrator. Defined benefit pension plan assets also are legally 
protected from creditors of the plan members. 

 
On January 18, 2022, the Title III Court entered an order confirming the Eighth Amended Plan for the 
Commonwealth, ERS, and PBA. The Eighth Amended Plan preserves all accrued pension benefits for 
current retirees and employees at ERS. For further information on the Eighth Amended Plan’s impact on 
pension benefits, refer to the final version of the Eighth Amended Plan, which is available at 
https://cases.primeclerk.com/puertorico/Home-DocketInfo. 
 

  



43 
 

 

 
The Additional Lottery System 

(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 
 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 

11. EMPLOYEE’S RETIRMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) ERS 

Plan Description – Prior to Act No. 106-2017, ERS administered different benefit structures pursuant to 
Act No. 447-1951, as amended, including a cost-sharing, multi-employer, defined benefit program, a 
defined contribution program (System 2000 program) and a contributory hybrid program. Benefit 
provisions vary depending on member’s date of hire. Substantially all full-time employees of the 
Commonwealth and its instrumentalities (the Commonwealth, 78 municipalities, and 55 public 
corporations) were covered by the ERS. These benefits were paid by the ERS until June 30, 2018. 
Through Act No. 106-2017, the Commonwealth transformed the retirement systems into a single pay-as-
you-go system (whereby future benefit payments are guaranteed by the Commonwealth’s General Fund) 
and created the Retirement System Board as the new Retirement Systems governing body. 
 
Certain provisions are different for the three groups of members who entered ERS prior to July 1, 2013, 
as described below: 
 
 Members of Act No. 447-1951 are generally those members hired before April 1, 1990 (contributory, 

defined benefit program). 

 Members of Act No. 1-1990 are generally those members hired on or after April 1, 1990, and on or 
before December 31, 1999 (together with Act No. 447 participants, the Defined Benefit Program). 

 Members of Act No. 305-1999 (Act No. 305-1999 or System 2000) were generally those members 
hired on or after January 1, 2000, and on or before June 30, 2013 (the System 2000 Program). All 
regular employees hired for the first time on or after July 1, 2013, and former employees who 
participated in the defined benefit program and the System 2000 program, and were rehired on or after 
July 1, 2013, became members of the Contributory Hybrid Program as a condition to their employment. 
In addition, participant employees of previous programs as of June 30, 2013, became part of the 
Contributory Hybrid Program on July 1, 2013. Pursuant to a settlement incorporated into the Eighth 
Amended Plan, on the effective date of the Eighth Amended Plan, all participants in the System 2000 
Program will receive a one-time payment in the amount of their contributions (plus accrued interest) 
as of the Commonwealth’s petition date in their defined contribution accounts established under Act 
No. 106-2017 (discussed below). Upon the payment of these refunds, all claims related to the System 
2000 Program will be discharged. 

 
The Commonwealth, through Act No. 106-2017, created a “New Defined Contribution Plan” that consisted 
of a trust fund, not subject to the provisions of Act No. 219-2012, known as “The Trusts Act”, that will 
maintain an individual account for each participant of the Retirement Systems that becomes a participant 
of the plan. 

 
The following employees will participate in the New Defined Contribution Plan: 
 
 All active participants of the ERS as of July 1, 2017 

 New hires entering the public service workforce after July,1 2017 

 Any business or public corporation with employees not participating in the Retirement Systems as of 
July 1, 2017, can, through an approved resolution by its board of directors or governing body, join the 
New Defined Contribution Plan. The Retirement Systems Board is responsible for establishing the 
eligibility requirements and procedures to be followed to join the New Defined Contribution Plan. 
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Enrollment in the New Defined Contribution Plan is optional for the chiefs of public corporations and for 
employees of public corporations of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico working and living outside the 
territorial limits of Puerto Rico. 
 
The following summary of ERS plan provisions is intended to describe the essential features of the plan. 
All eligibility requirements and benefit amounts should be determined in strict accordance with the 
applicable laws and regulations. 
 

(i) Service Retirements 

(a) Eligibility for Act No. 447-1951 Members: Act No. 447-1951 members who were eligible to retire 
as of June 30, 2013 would continue to be eligible to retire at any time. Prior to July 1, 2013, Act 
No. 447-1951 members could retire upon (1) attainment of age 55 with 25 years of credited 
service; (2) attainment of age 58 with 10 years of credited service; and (3) any age with 30 years 
of credited service. In addition, Act No. 447-1951 members who would attain 30 years of credited 
service by December 31, 2013 would be eligible to retire at any time. 

Act No. 447-1951 members who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013 and did not attain 
30 years of credited service by December 31, 2013 are eligible to retire upon attainment of the 
retirement eligibility age shown in the table below with 10 years of credited service. 

 

In addition to the requirements in the table above, Act No. 447-1951 Public Officers in High-Risk 
Positions who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013 and did not attain 30 years of 
credited service by December 31, 2013 are eligible to retire directly from active service upon the 
attainment of age 55 with 30 years of credited service. 

(b)  Eligibility for Act No. 1-1990 Members: Act No. 1-1990 members who were eligible to retire as of 
June 30, 2013 continue to be eligible to retire at any time. Prior to July 1, 2013, Act No. 1-1990 
members could retire upon (1) attainment of age 55 with 25 years of credited service and 
(2) attainment of age 65 with 10 years of credited service. 

Act No. 1-1990 members who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013, are eligible to retire 
upon attainment of age 65 with 10 years of credited service. 

(c)  Eligibility for System 2000 Members: System 2000 members who were eligible to retire as of 
June 30, 2013, continue to be eligible to retire at any time. Prior to July 1, 2013, System 2000 
members could retire upon attainment of age 60. 

 

 

 

Attained age
as of June 30, Retirement

Date of birth 2013 eligibility age

July 1, 1957 or later 55 or less 61  
July 1, 1956 to June 30, 1957 56  60  
Before July 1, 1956 57 and up 59  
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System 2000 members who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013 are eligible to retire 
upon attainment of the retirement eligibility age shown in the table below otherwise. 

 
(d) Eligibility for Members Hired after June 30, 2013: Attainment of age 67. 

(ii) Service Retirement Annuity Benefits 

An annuity payable for the lifetime of the member equal to the annuitized value of the balance in the 
hybrid contribution account at the time of retirement, plus, for Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 
members, the accrued benefit determined as of June 30, 2013. If the balance in the hybrid 
contribution account was $10,000 or less, it would have been paid as a lump sum instead of as an 
annuity. 

(a) Accrued Benefit as of June 30, 2013 for Act No. 447-1951 Members: The accrued benefit as of 
June 30, 2013 was determined based on the average compensation, as defined, for Act No. 447-
1951 members, the years of credited service, and the attained age of the member all as of 
June 30, 2013. 

If the Act No. 447-1951 member had at least 30 years of credited service as of June 30, 2013, 
the accrued benefit equals 65% of average compensation if the member was under age 55 as 
of June 30, 2013, or 75% of average compensation if the member was at least age 55 as of 
June 30, 2013. For participants selecting the Coordination Plan, the benefit was recalculated at 
the Social Security Retirement Age (SSRA), as defined, as 1.5% of average compensation up to 
$6,600 multiplied by years of credited service, up to 30 years, plus 65% (75% if member was at 
least age 55 as of June 30, 2013) of average compensation in excess of $6,600. 

If the Act No. 447-1951 member had less than 30 years of credited service as of June 30, 2013 
and attained 30 years of credited service by December 31, 2013, the accrued benefit equaled 
55% of average compensation if the member was under age 55 as of June 30, 2013 or 60% of 
average compensation if the member was at least age 55 as of June 30, 2013. For participants 
selecting the Coordination Plan, the benefit was recalculated at SSRA as 1.5% of average 
compensation up to $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service, up to 30 years, plus 55% 
(60% if member was at least age 55 as of June 30, 2013) of average compensation in excess of 
$6,600. Member contributions received from Act No. 447-1951 members eligible for this 
transitory benefit during the period beginning July 1, 2013 and ending upon the attainment of 
30 years of credited service were considered pre- July 1, 2013 contributions; the contributions to 
the hybrid contribution account begin after the member attains 30 years of credited service. 

  

Attained age
as of June 30, Retirement

Date of birth 2013 eligibility age

July 1, 1957 or later 55 or less 65  
July 1, 1956 to June 30, 1957 56  64  
July 1, 1955 to June 30, 1956 57  63  
July 1, 1954 to June 30, 1955 58  62  
Before July 1, 1954 59 and up 61  
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If the Act No. 447-1951 member had less than 30 years of credited service as of December 31, 
2013, the accrued benefit equaled 1.5% of average compensation multiplied by years of credited 
service up to 20 years, plus 2% of average compensation multiplied by years of credited service 
in excess of 20 years. Maximum benefit is 75% of average compensation. For participants 
selecting the Coordination Plan, the basic benefit is recalculated at SSRA as 1% of average 
compensation up to $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service up to 20 years, plus 1.5% of 
average compensation up to $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service in excess of 20 years, 
plus 1.5% of average compensation in excess of $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service 
up to 20 years, plus 2.0% of average compensation in excess of $6,600 multiplied by years of 
credited service in excess of 20 years. The benefit was actuarially reduced for each year 
payment commences prior to age 58. 

(b)  Accrued Benefit as of June 30, 2013 for Act No. 1-1990 Members: The accrued benefit as of 
June 30, 2013 is determined based on the average compensation for Act No. 1-1990 members, 
the years of credited service, and the attained age of the member all as of June 30, 2013. 

For Act No. 1-1990 members, the accrued benefit equaled 1.5% of average compensation 
multiplied by years of credited service. The benefit was actuarially reduced for each year 
payment commences prior to age 65. 

(iii) Compulsory Retirement 

All Act No. 447-1951 were required to retire upon attainment of age 58 and 30 years of credited 
service. 

(iv) Termination Benefits 

(a) Lump Sum Withdrawal 

Eligibility: A Member was eligible upon termination of service prior to 5 years of service or if 
the balance in the hybrid contribution account is $10,000 or less. 

Benefit: The benefit equaled a lump sum payment of the balance in the hybrid contribution 
account as of the date of the permanent separation of service. 

(b) Deferred Retirement 

Eligibility: A Member was eligible upon termination of service with 5 or more years of service 
(10 years of credited service for Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members) prior to the 
applicable retirement eligibility, provided the member had not taken a lump sum withdrawal 
of the accumulated contributions from the hybrid contribution account. 

Benefit: An annuity payable for the lifetime of the member commencing at the applicable 
retirement eligibility age equal to the annuitized value of the balance in the hybrid contribution 
account at the time of retirement, plus, for Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members, 
the accrued benefit determined as of June 30, 2013. 

(v) Death Benefits 

(a) Pre-retirement Death Benefit 

Eligibility: Any current nonretired member was eligible. 

Benefit: A refund of the hybrid contribution account, plus the accumulated contributions for 
Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members. 
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(b) High Risk Death Benefit under Act No. 127-1958 

Eligibility: Employees in specified high-risk positions who die in the line of work due to 
reasons specified in Act No. 127-1958, as amended. 

Spouse’s Benefit: 50% of the participant’s compensation at date of death, payable as an 
annuity until death or remarriage. 

Children’s Benefit: 50% of the participant’s compensation at date of death, payable as an 
annuity, and allocated pro rata among eligible children. The annuity was payable for life for 
a disabled child, until age 18 for a nondisabled child not pursuing studies, and until age 25 
for a nondisabled child who is pursuing studies. 

Benefit if No Spouse or Children: The parents of the member should each receive 50% of 
the participant’s compensation at date of death, payable as an annuity for life. 

Post death Increases: Effective July 1, 1996, and subsequently every three-years, the above 
death benefits are increased by 3% provided that the beneficiary(ies) had been receiving 
payments for at least three-years. 

The cost of these benefits was paid by the Commonwealth. 

(c) Postretirement Death Benefit for Members Who Retired prior to July 1, 2013 

Eligibility: Any retiree or disabled member receiving a monthly benefit who had not elected a 
reversionary annuity and whose benefits commenced prior to July 1, 2013. 

Benefit: The benefit is as follows (Act No. 105, as amended by Act No. 4): 

i. For those married or with dependent children at the time of death, the annual income to a 
widow, or widower or dependent children is equal to 60% (50% if in the Coordination Plan 
– 30%, prior to January 1, 2004) of the retirement benefit payable for life for a surviving 
spouse and/or disabled children and payable until age 18 (age 25 if pursuing studies) for 
nondisabled children. If in the Coordination Plan, the benefit to the surviving spouse does 
not begin until the spouse’s attainment of age 60 and the surviving spouse must have 
been married to the member for at least 10 years to be eligible for this benefit. The 
increase in the percentage from 30% to 50% if in the Coordination Plan is paid by the 
Commonwealth for former government employees or by the public enterprise or 
municipality for their former employees. See Act No. 105 of 1969, as amended by Act No. 
158 of 2003. 

ii. The benefit, when there is no relation as stated above, is equal to the remaining balance 
of accumulated contributions at the time of retirement after the deduction of lifetime annual 
income paid and is payable to a beneficiary or to the Member’s estate. In no case may the 
benefit be less than $1,000. Either the Commonwealth for former government employees 
or the public enterprise or municipality for their former employees pays the difference, up 
to $250, between (1) the accumulated contributions less the lifetime annual income paid 
and (2) $1,000. ERS pays for the rest. See Article 2-113 of Act No. 447-1951, as amended 
by Act No. 524-2004. 

(d)  Postretirement Death Benefit for Members Who Retired after June 30, 2013 

Eligibility: Any retiree or disabled member who began receiving a monthly benefit after June 30, 
2013. 

  



48 
 

 

The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 

11. EMPLOYEE’S RETIRMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 

Benefit: If the member elected at the time of retirement to transfer a portion of the annuity to a 
beneficiary by selecting an actuarially equivalent optional form of payment, the applicable 
survivor benefit. 

For all members, the excess, if any, of the hybrid contribution account, plus the accumulated 
contributions for Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members, at the time of retirement over 
the total annuity payments paid to the member and any beneficiary per the terms of the optional 
form of payment must be payable to a beneficiary or the member’s estate. 

(e)  Beneficiaries receiving occupational death benefits as of June 30, 2013, continue to be eligible 
to receive such benefits. 

(vi) Disability Benefits 

(a) Disability 

Eligibility: All members are eligible upon the occurrence of disability. 

Benefit: The balance of the hybrid contribution account payable as lump sum distribution, an 
immediate annuity, or a deferred annuity at the election of the participant. Act No. 447-1951 and 
Act No. 1-1990 members remain eligible to receive the accrued benefit as of June 30, 2013, 
commencing at the applicable retirement eligibility age. 

(b)  High Risk Disability under Act No. 127-1958 

Eligibility: Employees in specified high-risk positions who are disabled in the line of work due to 
reasons specified in Act No. 127-1958 (as amended). 

Benefit: 80% (100% for Act No. 447-1951 members) of compensation as of date of disability, 
payable as an annuity. If the member died while still disabled, this annuity benefit continued to 
his beneficiaries. Beneficiaries include the surviving spouse and/or disabled children (for life), 
nondisabled children until age 18 (age 25 if pursuing studies), and the parents if no other 
beneficiaries. Effective July 1, 1996, and subsequently every three-years, the disability benefit 
was increased by 3% provided that the member (or beneficiary) had been receiving payments 
for at least three-years (Act No. 127-1958, as amended).  

The cost of these benefits was paid by the Commonwealth. 

(c)  Members who qualified for occupational or nonoccupational disability benefits as of June 30, 
2013, continue to be eligible to receive such benefits. 

(vii) Special Benefits 

(a) Minimum Benefits 

i. Past Ad hoc Increases: The Legislature, from time to time, increased pensions for certain 
retirees as described in Act No. 124-1973 and Act No. 23-1983. The benefits were paid 50% 
by the Commonwealth and 50% by ERS. 

ii. Minimum Benefit for Members Who Retired before July 1, 2013 (Act No. 156-2003, Act 
No. 35-2007, and Act No. 3-2013): The minimum monthly lifetime income for members who 
retired or become disabled before July 1, 2013, is $500 per month effective July 1, 2013 
($400 per month effective July 1, 2007, and $300 per month up to June 30, 2007). The 
increase in the minimum monthly benefit from $200 per month to $300 per month was paid 
by the Commonwealth for former government and certain public corporations without their 
own treasuries’ employees or by certain public corporations with their own treasuries or 
municipalities for their former employees. The increase in the minimum monthly benefit from 
$300 per month to $400 per month was to be paid by ERS for former government and certain  
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public corporations without their own treasuries’ employees or by certain public corporations 
with their own treasuries or municipalities for their former employees. 

iii. Coordination Plan Minimum Benefit: A minimum monthly benefit was payable upon 
attainment of SSRA such that the benefit, when added to the Social Security Benefit, was 
not less than the benefit payable prior to SSRA. 

(b)  Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) to Pension Benefits: The Legislature, from time to time, 
increased pensions by 3% for retired and disabled members. Beneficiaries were not entitled to 
COLAs granted after the retiree’s death. The first increase was granted by Act No. 10-1992. 
Subsequent 3% increases have been granted every third year since 1992, with the latest 3% 
increase established on April 24, 2007, and effective July 1, 2007 (retroactive to January 1, 
2007) for retired and disabled members that were receiving a monthly benefit on or before 
January 1, 2004 (Act No. 35-2007). In addition, effective July 1, 2008, any retired or disabled 
member that was receiving a monthly annuity on or before January 1, 2004, less than $1,250 
per month received an increase of up to 3% without exceeding the limit of $1,250 per month (Act 
No. 35-2007). The COLAs granted in 1992 to all retirees and in 1998 to retirees who are former 
government or municipal employees are to be paid by ERS. All other COLAs granted in 1995 
and later were required to be paid by the Commonwealth for former government and certain 
public corporations without their own treasuries or by certain public corporations with their own 
treasuries or municipalities for their former employees. 

Under the Eighth Amended Plan, these COLAs will be eliminated from and after the Effective 
Date. As of the date hereof, the Effective Date has not yet occurred. For further information on 
the Eighth Amended Plan’s impact on pension benefits, refer to the final version of the Eighth 
Amended Plan, which is available at https://cases.primeclerk.com/puertorico/Home-DocketInfo. 

(c)  Special “Bonus” Benefits 

(i)  Christmas Bonus (Act No. 144-2005, as Amended by Act No. 3-2013): An annual bonus of 
$200 for each retiree, beneficiary, and disabled member has historically been paid in 
December provided the member retired prior to July 1, 2013. This benefit is paid from the 
supplemental contributions received from the Commonwealth for former government and 
certain public corporations without their own treasuries, or by certain public corporations with 
their own treasuries or municipalities for their former employees. 

(ii)  Medication Bonus (Act No. 155-2003, as Amended by Act No. 3-2013): An annual bonus of 
$100 for each retiree, beneficiary, and disabled member to cover health costs paid in 
July provided the member retired prior to July 1, 2013. Evidence of coverage is not required. 
The amount is prorated if there are multiple beneficiaries. This benefit is paid from the 
Supplemental Contributions received from the Commonwealth for former government and 
certain public corporations without their own treasuries, or by certain public corporations with 
their own treasuries or municipalities for their former employees. 

Before July 1, 2017, the Commonwealth made contributions to the ERS for the special benefits 
granted by special laws. The funding of the special benefits was provided to the ERS through 
legislative appropriations each January 1 and July 1. Special benefits to eligible Act 447-1951 
participants are being paid by each employer as they become due since July 1, 2017. 
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(viii) Contributions 

Contributions by members consist, as a minimum, of 8.5% of their compensation directly deposited 
by the Puerto Rico Department of Treasury in the individual member accounts under the New 
Defined Contribution Plan created pursuant to Act No. 106-2017. Also, as of that date, System’s 
participants shall make no individual contributions or payments to the accumulated pension benefits 
payment account or additional contributions to ERS. 

Participating employers are responsible for the payment of the PayGo fee to the accumulated 
pension benefits payment account, which is computed based on the amount of actual benefits paid 
to retirees, disabled and beneficiaries of each participating employer. 

(ix) Early Retirement Programs 

On July 2, 2010, the Commonwealth enacted Act No. 70 establishing a program that provides 
benefits for early retirement or economic incentives for voluntary employment termination to eligible 
employees, as defined. Act No. 70-2010 also established that early retirement benefits will be 
provided to eligible employees that have completed between 15 and 29 years of creditable services 
and will consist of monthly benefits ranging from 37.5% to 50% of each employees’ monthly salary. 
Benefits under this program will be paid by the General Fund of the Commonwealth and by the public 
corporations, covering their respective employees until the plan member reaches the later of age 55 
for members under Act No. 447-1951 or age 65 for members under Act No. 1-1990, or the date the 
plan member would have completed 30 years of service had the member continued employment. In 
addition, the public corporations will also be required to continue making the required employee and 
employer contributions to ERS. The General Fund of the Commonwealth will be required to continue 
making its required employer contributions. ERS will be responsible for benefit payments afterward. 

On December 8, 2015, the Commonwealth enacted the Voluntary Early Retirement Law, Act No. 
211 of 2015 (Act No. 211-2015), establishing a voluntary program to provide pre-retirement benefits 
to eligible employees, as defined. Act 106-2017 repealed Act No. 211-2015, while creating 
incentives, opportunities, and retraining programs for public workers. 
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Total Pension Liability, Pension Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related 
to Pensions 
 

1) Total Pension Liability and Actuarial Information 
 
The Lottery’s total Pension Liability for each plan program is measured as the proportionate share of the 
total Pension Liability. The Total Pension Liability of each of the plan program was measured as of July 1, 
2019, and the Total Pension Liability for each plan program used to calculate the Total Pension Liability 
was determined by an actuarial valuation as of July 1, 2019, rolled forward to June 30, 2020 using standard 
update procedures. The Lottery’s proportion of the Total Pension Liability was based on the ratio of each 
component unit’s actual benefit payments to the total actual benefit payments paid during the year ending 
on the measurement date. 
 
As June 30, 2021, the Lottery’s used the proportion of .00058%, which was the June 30, 2020 base as 
required by GASB No. 73: 
 

Proportion - June 30, 2019 0.00058%

Proportion - June 30, 2020 0.00058%

Change 0.00000%
 

 
As of June 30, 2021, the Lottery reported $163,458 as total Pension Liability for its proportionate share of 
the total Pension Liability of ERS, as follows: 
 

Total Pension Liability Total
Proportion 
(0.00058%)

Total Pension Liability 31,690,268,011$  163,458$               

 
 
2)  Pension Expense 
 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Lottery recognized pension expense of $2,351. Pension 
expense represents the change in the method of benefits payment from “pay-as-you-go” system. 
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3) Deferred Outflows/Inflow of Resources 
 
As of June 30, 2021, the Lottery reported Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

Description
Deferred Outflows 

of Resources
Deferred Inflows of 

Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience  $                    337  $                  3,680 
Changes of assumptions           20,521              2,806 
Changes in proportion             8,902              6,602 
Benefits paid subsequent to measurement date                     7,713                    -   

 $               37,473  $                13,088 
 

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources above represent the unamortized portion 
of changes to net pension liability to be recognized in future periods in a systematic and rational manner. 
 
Pension benefits paid subsequent to measurement date of $7,713, reported as deferred outflows of 
resources, will be recognized as a reduction of total pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2022. 
 
Amounts reported as deferred outflows/inflows of resources from pension activities as of June 30, 2021 
will be recognized in the pension expense as follows: 
 

Year ending June 30, Amount
2022  $      3,334 
2023  3,334 
2024  3,334 
2025  3,335 
2026  3,335 

Total  $    16,672 
 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
 
Actuarial valuations of ERS involve estimates of the reported amount and assumptions about probability 
of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment 
mortality and future salary increases. Amounts determined regarding the net pension liability are subject 
to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made 
about the future. 
 
A summary of the actuarial assumptions and methods used to calculate the total pension liability as of 
June 30, 2021 is provided below. Total pension liability represents the portion of the actuarial present 
value of projected benefit payments attributable to past periods of service for current and inactive 
employees. 
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The actuarial valuation used the following actuarial assumptions: 

 
Inflation Rate Not Applicable  
 
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal 

 
Municipal Bond Index 2.21% based on Bond Buyer General Obligation 20 - Bond Municipal 

Index, which includes tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds 
with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher. 

 
Discount Rate 2.21% 
 
Salary increase 3.00% per year. No compensation increases are assumed until July 

1, 2021, as a result of Act No. 3-2017, four year extension of Act No. 
66-2014, and the current general economy. 

 
Mortality Pre-Retirement Mortality: For general employees not covered Under Act 

No. 127, PubG-2010 Employee Mortality Rates, adjusted by 100% for 
males and 110% for females, projected to reflect Mortality 
Improvement Scale MP-2020 on a generational basis. For members 
covered under Act 127, PubS-2010 Employee Mortality Rates are 
assumed for males and females, projected to reflect Mortality 
Improvement Scale MP-2020 on a generational basis. As 
generational tables, they reflect mortality improvements both before 
and after measurement date. 100% of deaths while in active service 
are assumed to be occupational for members covered under Act 127. 

 
Post-Retirement Healthy Mortality: Rates which vary by gender are 

assumed for healthy retirees and beneficiaries based on a study of 
plan's experience from 2013 to 2018 and updated expectations 
regarding future mortality improvement. The PubG-2010 healthy retiree 
rates adjusted by 100% for males and 110% for females, projected 
using MP-2020 on a generational basis. Prior to retiree’s death, 
beneficiary mortality is assumed to be the same as the post-retirement 
healthy retiree mortality. For periods after the retiree’s death, PubG-
2010(B) contingent survivor rates, adjusted by 110% for males and 
120% for females, projected using MP-2020 on a generational basis. As 
a generational table, it reflects mortality improvements both before and 
after the measurement date. 

 
Post-Retirement Disabled Mortality: Rates which vary by gender are 

assumed for disabled retirees based on a study of plan's experience 
from 2013 to 2018 and updated expectations regarding future mortality 
improvement. The PubG-2010 disabled retiree rates, adjusted by 80% 
for males and 100% for females. The base rates are projected using 
Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2020 on a generational basis. As a 
generational table, it reflects mortality improvements both before and 
after measurement date. 
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This valuation also reflects a salary freeze until July 1, 2017 due to Act No. 66 of 2014. While the Act No. 
66 salary freeze only applies to Central Government employees, public corporations are mandated to 
achieve savings under Act No. 66, and actuaries have assumed that they will meet this mandate by 
freezing salaries. Also, while municipalities are not impacted by Act No. 66, the actuaries have also 
assumed the salary freeze for these employees due to the current economic conditions in Puerto Rico. 
 
Discount Rate 
 
The asset basis for the date of depletion projection is the ERS’s fiduciary net position (the gross assets 
plus deferred outflows of resources less the gross liabilities, including the senior pension funding bonds 
payable, plus deferred inflows of resources). On this basis, the ERS’s fiduciary net position was expected 
to be exhausted in the fiscal year 2015. After June 30, 2017, the Commonwealth enacted legislation that 
changed the structure of pension administration managed by ERS.  
 
The ERS’s fiduciary net position was not projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total 
pension liability is equal to the single equivalent rate that result in the same actuarial present value as the 
long-term expected rate of return applied to benefit payments, to the extent that the ERS’s fiduciary net 
position is projected to be sufficient to make projected benefit payments, and the municipal bond rate 
applied to benefit payments, to the extent that the ERS’s fiduciary net position is not projected to be 
sufficient. 
 
The discount rate on June 30, 2020 was as follows: 
 

June 30,2020

Discount Rate 2.21%

Long-term expected rate of return net of investment expense N/A%

Municipal bond rate* 2.21%
* Bond buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Index  
 
As directed by the ERS, the asset basis for the date of depletion projection is the ERS’s net assets (the 
gross assets less the Pension Obligation Bond proceeds). On this basis, net assets were exhausted in 
the 2014-2015 fiscal year and no projection was needed to be performed as of June 30, 2016, as the tax-
free municipal bond index applies in all years and is thus the single equivalent interest rate that is used 
as the discount rate in the determination of the Total Pension Liability. 
 
According to Paragraph 30 of Statement 68, the long-term discount rate should be determined without 
reduction for pension plan administrative expense. Using this lower discount rate has resulted in a slightly 
higher Total Pension Liability and Net Pension Liability. 
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11. EMPLOYEE’S RETIRMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Total Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate 
 
The following presents the Lottery’s proportionate share of the Total Pension Liability, calculated using 
the discount rate of 2.21%, as well as what the Administration's proportionate share of the Total Pension 
Liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 - percentage point lower or 1 - 
percentage point higher than the current rate: 

Description

At 1% 
decrease
(1.21%)

At current 
discount rate 

(2.21%)
At 1% increase

(3.21%)

Total Pension Liability  $       187,500  $       163,458  $       144,071 

 
 
Pay-As-You-Go Funding 
 
On June 27, 2017, the Treasury Department issued Circular Letter No. 1300-46-17 in order to convey to 
the central government agencies, public corporations and municipalities the new implementation 
procedures to adopt, effective July 1, 2017, a new “pay-as-you-go” (Pay-Go) mechanism for the ERS. 
 
Subsequently, on August 23, 2017, the Governor signed into law the “Act to Guarantee the Payment to 
Our Pensioners and Establish a New Plan for Defined Contributions for Public Servants” (Act No. 106), 
which reformed the Commonwealth Retirement Systems. Act. No. 106 terminated the previously existing 
pension programs for the ERS’s participants as of June 30, 2017. The members of the prior programs and 
new system members hired on and after July 1, 2017 are now enrolled in a new defined contributions 
program. Act No. 106 also established by law the Pay-Go mechanism for the payment of accumulated 
pension benefits and eliminated employers’ contributions and other analogous contributions. 
Approximately $2 billion was allocated for the payment of Pay-Go benefits in each of the budgets for fiscal 
years 2018 through 2021. 
 
Furthermore, Act No. 106 modified the ERS’s governance. Under Act No. 106, the ERS’ Board of Trustees 
was substituted with a new Retirement Board, which is currently responsible for governing all of the 
Commonwealth’s Retirement Systems. 
 
Act No. 106-2017 also ordered a suspension of the ERS’s loan programs and ordered a merger of the 
administrative structures of the retirement systems. At the Retirement Board’s discretion, the servicing of 
the ERS’s existing loan portfolio may be externalized. Pursuant to Act No. 106-2017, the employees of 
the ERS that are not retained under the new administrative structure will be transferred to other public 
agencies in conformity with Act No. 8-2017. 
 
At a basic level, ERS will need to hold some level of operating cash to account for any ongoing timing 
issues between receipt and disbursement of funds. The “pay-go” funding needed in a given year is the 
difference between actual contributions and actual disbursements: 
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11. EMPLOYEE’S RETIRMENT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
 Contributions to ERS are primarily based on statutory percentage of payroll. 

 
 Disbursements are comprised of benefit payments, administrative expenses, and Pension Obligation 

Bond debt service. 
 
Contributions and disbursements will experience natural variation due to emerging demographic 
experience. Contributions and disbursements can also be greatly impacted by specific management 
decisions, such as an early retirement incentive program or other workforce reduction. A major issue 
that needs to be addressed by ERS and the Commonwealth is determining what the process of ERS 
budgeting for “pay-go” funding will be. While the ERS can set an expected “pay-go” amount at the time 
of budgeting for an upcoming fiscal year, both actual contributions and disbursements can vary from 
expectations during the fiscal year. 
 

 If the budget is set based on expected contributions and disbursements, in the event of adverse 
experience during the fiscal year, should provide for additional funds from the sponsoring employers. 
 

 If the ERS be permitted to develop a budget request of a “pay-go” amount for the fiscal year that 
includes a margin to provide a buffer against adverse outcomes. 
 

 And how would the impacts of specific management decisions be handled. 
 
There are certainly many more operational details to be considered. “Pay-go” operation is a complex issue 
that requires careful though and planning, constant monitoring, and the ability to respond to emerging 
events quickly. 
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12. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (“OPEB”) 
 
Program Description and Membership 
 
The Lottery provides postemployment benefits other than the pension benefits described in Note 11, for 
its retired employees (the “OPEB Program”). The plan is an unfunded, single employer defined benefit 
other postemployment healthcare and insurance coverage benefit plan. The plan is administered on a pay-
as-you-go basis. Accordingly, no assets are accumulated in a qualifying trust that meets the criteria in 
paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75 "Accounting and Financial Reporting for the Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions". 
 
The OPEB plan covers a payment of up to $100 per month to the eligible medical insurance plan selected 
by each member provided that the member retired prior to July 1, 2013 (Act No. 483, as amended by Act 
No. 3). The Plan is financed by the Commonwealth through legislative appropriations. There is no 
contribution requirement from the plan members during active employment. The retirees contribute the 
amount of the healthcare insurance premium not covered by the Commonwealth contribution. Plan 
members were eligible for benefits upon reaching the applicable retirement age. Act No. 3 of 2013 
eliminated this healthcare benefit to the OPEB plan members that retired after June 30, 2013. 
 
Funding Policy 
 
The obligations of the Plan members’ employer are established by action of the Lottery pursuant to 
applicable collective bargaining and employment agreements. The required contribution rates of the 
employer and the members vary depending on the applicable agreement. 
 
The Lottery currently contributes enough money to the Plan to satisfy current obligations on a pay-as-you-
go basis. The costs of administering the Plan are paid by the Lottery. 
 
Relationship Between Valuation Date, Measurement Date and Reporting Date 
 
The valuation date is July 1, 2019. This is the date as of which the actuarial valuation is performed. The 
measurement date is June 30, 2020. This is the date as of which total OPEB liability is determined. The 
reporting date is the Lottery’s fiscal year ending date. This report is for measurement year July 1, 2019 to 
June 30, 2020 for reporting periods ending June 30, 2020 through June 30, 2021.  
 
Significant Changes 
 
There have been no significant changes between the valuation date and measurement year end.  
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12. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (“OPEB”) (CONTINUED) 
 
Total OPEB Liability, Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
As permitted by GASB, the Lottery’s proportionate share of the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2021 of 
approximately $15,394 was measured at June 30, 2020 by an actuarial valuation as of that date. An 
expected total OPEB liability was determined as of June 30, 2019, the valuation date, using standard roll 
back techniques. The roll back calculation begins with the total OPEB  liability,  as  of  the measurement 
date, June 30, 2020, adds the expected benefit payments for the year, deducts interest at the 
measurement date, adds the expected benefit payments for the year, deducts interest at the discount rate 
for the year, and then subtracts the annual normal cost (also called the service cost). 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2021, the Lottery recognized an OPEB expense of $821, included as part of 
other postemployment benefits expense in the accompanying Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Deficit. 
 
 

Source

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources

Benefits paid subsequent to measurement date  $  1,200 

Total Deferred Outflows  $          1,200 
 

 
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from the Lottery’s benefit payments subsequent 
to the measurement date which amounted to $1,200 as of June 30, 2021 is recognized as a reduction of 
the total OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2021.  
 
The Lottery’s proportion of the OPEB liability used was as follows:  
 
 

Proportion - June 30, 2019 0.00174%

Proportion - June 30, 2020 0.00176%

Change - Increase 0.00002%
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12. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (“OPEB”) (CONTINUED) 
 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate as of June 30, 2020 was as follows: 
 

June 30,2020

Discount Rate 2.21%

Long-term expected rate of return net of investment expense N/A%

Municipal bond rate 2.21%

 
The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal Index. 
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12. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (“OPEB”) (CONTINUED) 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions  
 
The actuarial cost method used to measure the total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2021 was the individual 
entry age normal cost method.  The actuarial valuations used the following actuarial method and 
assumptions:  
 
 
Measurement Date June 30, 2020  
 
Valuation Date July 1, 2019 

 
Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal 
 
Medical Rate Not Applicable 
 
Salary increase Current General Economy 
 
Mortality Pre-Retirement Mortality: for general employees not covered Under Act No. 

127, PubG-2010 Employee Mortality Rates, adjusted by 100% for males 
and 110% for females, projected to reflect Mortality Improvement Scale 
MP-2020 on a generational basis. For members covered under Act 127, 
PubS-2010 Employee Mortality Rates are assumed for males and 
females, projected to reflect Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2020 on a 
generational basis. As generational tables, they reflect mortality 
improvements both before and after measurement date.  

 
Post-Retirement Healthy Mortality: Rates which vary by gender are assumed 

for healthy retirees and beneficiaries based on a study of the Plan's 
experience from 2013 to 2018 and updated expectations regarding future 
mortality improvement. The PubG-2010 healthy retiree rates, adjusted by 
100% for males and 110% for females, projected using MP-2020 on a 
generational basis. Prior to retiree’s death, beneficiary mortality is assumed 
to be the same as the post-retirement healthy retiree mortality. For periods 
after the retiree’s death, the PubG-2010(B) contingent survivor rates, 
adjusted by 110% for males and 120% for females, projected using MP-
2020 on a generational basis. As a generational table, it reflects mortality 
improvements both before and after the measurement date. 

 
Post-Retirement Disabled Mortality: Rates which vary by gender are assumed 

for disabled retirees based on a study of the Plan's experience from 2013 
to 2018 and updated expectations regarding future mortality improvement. 
The PubG-2010 disabled retiree dates, adjusted by 80% for males and 
100% for females. The base rates are projected using Mortality 
Improvement Scale MP-2020 on a generational basis. As a generational 
table, it reflects mortality improvements both before and after the 
measurement date.  
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12. POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THAN PENSIONS (“OPEB”) (CONTINUED) 
 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability of occurrence of events far into the future, and actuarially determined amounts are subject to 
continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about 
the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following 
the notes to the basic financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about the actuarial value 
of program assets relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits. 
 
Calculations are based on the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and on the pattern 
of sharing of costs between the employer and members to that point. The projections of benefits for 
financial reporting purposes do not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual funding 
limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between the employer and plan members in the future. 
 
The actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective. Consistent with that perspective, actuarial 
methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce short term volatility in 
actuarial accrued liabilities and actuarial value of assets. 
 
Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate  
 
The following presents the total OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 2.21%, as well as what 
it would be if it were calculated using a discount rate of 1 percent-point lower (1.21%) or 1 percent-point 
higher (3.21%) than the current rate: 

Description

At 1% 
decrease
(1.21%)

At current 
discount rate 

(2.21%)

At 1% 
increase
(3.21%)

Other Postemployment Benefit Liability  $        16,956  $          15,394  $        14,072 
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13. VOLUNTARY TERMINATION BENEFITS 
 

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, the Legislature of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 
approved a one-time retirement incentive plan for all regular employees of Central Government Agencies 
and certain Public Corporations, known as Act #70 of July 2, 2010. The program included early retirement 
incentives for certain eligible employees. Under the plan, employees could select one of three options as 
follows: Article 4(a) provides economic incentive based on the following parameters:   
 

Years of Service in Public Sector
Incentive Gross 

Amount

Up to 1 Year 1 Month of Salary

From 1 Year and One Day Up to 3 Years 3 Months of Salary

From 3 Years and One Day and Up 6 Months of Salary  
 
 
Article 4(b) provides, employees meeting certain years of service criteria (between 15 and 29 years) and 
opting for early retirement, to receive a higher pension benefit rate than they would otherwise be entitled 
to receive based on their current years of service, but such pension rate is lower than what they would 
have been entitled to if they had waited to meet the full vesting requirements. Annuity pension payments 
are based on the following parameters: 
 

Credited Years 
of Service

Pension Payment 
(As a % of salary)

15 37.5%

16 40.0%

17 42.5%

18 45.0%

19 47.5%

20 to 29 50.0%  
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13. VOLUNTARY TERMINATION BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
The Lottery will be responsible for making the applicable employer contributions to the Employees 
Retirement System, as well as making the payments to cover the annuity payments to the employees 
opting for the early retirement window, until both; the years of service and age requirements for full vesting 
would have occurred, at which time the applicable Retirement System will continue making the annuity 
payments. However, after July 1, 2017, and based on Retirement System’s Circular Letter No.  2019-01 
of October 29, 2018, the applicable employer and employee contributions being made by the Lottery were 
eliminated.   
 
Employees selecting options 4(a) or (b) will be entitled to receive full payment of healthcare plan benefits 
for a period of up to 12 months or the date that the employee is eligible for a healthcare plan benefit 
offered by another employer, whichever occurs first. 
 
Article 4(c) provides eligible employees that have 30 years of credited services contributing to the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico Retirement System and request to start receiving their pension benefits, 
will be entitled to receive the economic incentive disposed on article 4(a) but not entitled to the incentives 
provided on article 4(b). Employees that have the required retirement age but have not achieved the years 
of credited services contributing to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico Retirement System will be entitled 
to an economic incentive of up to 6 months of salary to cover for the years of service not credited.  
 
The Lottery has four participants in the plan, and termination benefits are measured at the discount 
present value of expected future benefit payments. Benefits are based on 60% of average pay (meaning 
the highest annual average salary of the participant during any of three years of credited services), in 
addition to social security and Medicare computed at 7.65%, and retirement benefits based on a 
percentage ranging from 45% to 50% from 2016 to 2025. Termination benefits will be completed during 
the fiscal year 2024-2025.  
 
As of June 30, 2021, the present value of future incentive payments reported as a liability amounted to 
approximately $214,839. The long-term portion of the early termination obligation amounted to $144,816, 
with a current portion of $70,023. Such amounts are disclosed, respectively, as short-term and long-term 
liabilities in the accompanying Statement of Net Position (Deficit). The liability under this program was 
discounted at approximately 0.35%. 
 
The following table summarizes the activity of voluntary termination benefits during the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2021 and 2020: 

 

Year Ended
Beginning 
Balance

Increases Decreases
Ending 
Balance

Due Within 
One Year

June 30, 2021 296,627$     4,600$      (86,388)$     214,839$  70,023$    

June 30, 2020 368,039$     14,976$    (86,388)$     296,627$  86,388$    
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14. NET POSITION (DEFICIT) 
 

As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 the Lottery has an accumulated Net Deficit of $1, for both periods. 
These are the result of a special transfer in the amount of $200 million under Law 171 of fiscal year 2005, 
and in the opinion of management, is not an indication of financial difficulties as the Lottery has been and 
continues to be profitable. In addition, management expects that funds for payments of annuity prize 
obligations will be totally covered from funds generated from operations. During the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Lottery has generated sufficient funds for the payment of prizes. 
 

15. DATE OF MANAGEMENT'S REVIEW 
 

The Lottery followed the provisions of FASB ASC topic “Subsequent Events”, which establishes general 
standards to be applied in accounting for, and disclosure of events that occur after the statement of position 
date, but before basic financial statements are issued or available to be issued. This standard introduces 
the concept of "financial statements available to be issued", which are financial statements that are 
complete in form and format, which comply with US GAAP and have obtained all approvals required for 
issuance. 

 
It requires the disclosure of the date through which an entity has evaluated subsequent events and the 
basis for the date, whether it is the date the basic financial statements were issued or were available to be 
issued. This topic should be applied to the accounting and disclosure of subsequent events not addressed 
on other applicable US GAAP. 

 
The Lottery's management evaluated subsequent events until November 15, 2022, date in which the basic 
financial statements are available to be issued. No events should be either recognized or disclosed in 
the basic financial statements. See also Note 17. 
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16. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
 

a. GASB Implementation 
 

The provisions of the following Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements were 
effective during the year ended June 30, 2021: 
 

 GASB Statement No. 84 “Fiduciary Activities”. The objective of this Statement is to improve 
guidance regarding the identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting 
purposes and how those activities should be reported. 

This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local 
governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the 
assets of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists. 
Separate criteria are included to identify fiduciary component units and postemployment benefit 
arrangements that are fiduciary activities.  

An activity meeting the criteria should be reported in a fiduciary fund in the basic financial 
statements. Governments with activities meeting the criteria should present a statement of fiduciary 
net position and a statement of changes in fiduciary net position. An exception to that requirement 
is provided for a business-type activity that normally expects to hold custodial assets for three 
months or less. 

This Statement describes four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable, (1) pension 
(and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust funds, 
and (4) custodial funds. Custodial funds generally should report fiduciary activities that are not held 
in a trust or equivalent arrangement that meets specific criteria.  

A fiduciary component unit, when reported in the fiduciary fund financial statements of a primary 
government, should combine its information with its component units that are fiduciary component 
units and aggregate that combined information with the primary government’s fiduciary funds.  

This Statement also provides for recognition of a liability to the beneficiaries in a fiduciary fund 
when an event has occurred that compels the government to disburse fiduciary resources. Events 
that compel a government to disburse fiduciary resources occur when a demand for the resources 
has been made or when no further action, approval, or condition is required to be taken or met by 
the beneficiary to release the assets. 

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 
15, 2018 (FY 2019-2020). Earlier application is encouraged. As per GASB Statement No. 95 the 
effective date was postponed by an additional year (FY 2020-2021).  

GASB No. 84 does not have any impact on the Lottery’s basic financial statements. 
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16. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS – (CONTINUED)  

 
 GASB Statement No. 90, “Majority Equity Interest - An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 

and No. 61”. The primary objectives of this Statement are to improve the consistency and 
comparability of reporting a government’s majority equity interest in a legally separate organization 
and to improve the relevance of financial statement information for certain component units. It 
defines a majority equity interest and specifies that a majority equity interest in a legally separate 
organization should be reported as an investment if a government’s holding of the equity interest 
meets the definition of an investment.  

A majority equity method, unless it is held by a special-purpose government engaged only in 
fiduciary activities, a fiduciary fund, or an endowment (including permanent and term endowments) 
or permanent fund. Those governments and funds should measure the majority equity interest at 
fair value. 

For all other holdings of a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization, a government 
should report the legally separate organization as a component unit, and the government or fund 
that holds the equity interest should report an asset related to the majority equity interest using the 
equity method. This Statement establishes that ownership of a majority equity interest in a legally 
separate organization results in the government being financially accountable for the legally 
separate organization and, therefore, the government should report that organization as a 
component unit. 

This Statement also requires that a component unit in which a government has a 100 percent equity 
interest account for its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows or 
resources at acquisition value at the date the government acquired a 100 percent equity interest in 
the component unit. Transactions presented in flows statements of the component unit in that 
circumstance should include only transactions that occurred subsequent to the acquisition.  

The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 
15, 2018 (FY 2019-2020). Earlier application is encouraged. The requirements should be applied 
retroactively, except for the provisions related to (1) reporting a majority equity interest in a 
component unit and (2) reporting a component unit if the government acquires a 100 percent equity 
interest. Those provisions should be applied on a prospective basis. As per GASB Statement No. 
95 the effective date was postponed by an additional year (FY 2020-2021).  

GASB No. 90 does not have any impact on the Lottery’s basic financial statements. 

 
b. Future Adoption 

 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board issued the following pronouncements that have effective 
dates after June 30, 2021. The Lottery is currently evaluating its accounting practices to determine the 
potential impact on the basic financial statements for the GASB Statements. 

 
 In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, “Leases”. This statement increases the 

usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets 
and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as 
inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. The 
requirements of this statement are effective for financial statements for periods beginning after 
June 15, 2021. 
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16. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS – (CONTINUED)  

 

 In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, “Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before 
the End of a Construction Period”. This statement will enhance the relevance and comparability of 
information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period and will simplify 
accounting for interest costs incurred before the end of a construction period. The requirements of 
this statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. 

 In May 2019, the GASB issued Statement No. 91, “Conduit Debt Obligations”. This statement is to 
provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate diversity in 
practice associated with 1) commitments extended by issuers, 2) arrangements associated with 
conduit debt obligations, and 3) related note disclosures. The requirements of this statement are 
effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2020. 

 In January 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 92, “Omnibus 2020”. This statement establishes 
accounting and financial reporting requirements for specific issues related to leases, intra-entity 
transfers of assets, postemployment benefits, government acquisitions, risk financing and 
insurance-related activities of public entity risk pools, fair value measurements, and derivative 
instruments. The requirements of this statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after 
June 15, 2021. 

 In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 93, “Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates”. 
This Statement establishes accounting and financial reporting requirements related to the 
replacement of IBORs in hedging derivative instruments and leases. It also identifies appropriate 
benchmark interest rates for hedging derivative instruments. The requirements of this statement 
are effective for reporting periods ending after June 15, 2021. 

 In March 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 94, “Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships 
and Availability Payment Arrangements”. This Statement establishes standards of accounting and 
financial reporting for PPPs and APAs for governments. The requirements of this statement are 
effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022. 

 In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 96, “Subscription-Based Information Technology 
Arrangements”. This Statement provides guidance on the accounting and financial reporting for 
subscription-based information technology arrangements for government end users. The 
requirements of this statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022. 

 In June 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 97, “Certain Component Unit Criteria, and 
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred 
Compensation Plans”. This Statement is intended to (i) increase the comparability of the reporting 
of fiduciary component units in circumstances where a potential component unit doesn’t have a 
governing board; (ii) mitigate financial reporting costs associated with certain defined contribution 
pension plans, defined contribution other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plans, and other 
employee benefit plans, by clarifying the financial burden criteria in Statement No. 84, Fiduciary 
Activities; and (iii) extends the accounting and financial reporting requirements related to pension 
plans, to Section 457 plans that meet the definition of a pension plan. The requirements of this 
statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2021. 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
16. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS – (CONTINUED)  

 
 In October 2021, the GASB issued Statement No. 98, “The Annual Comprehensive Financial 

Report”. This Statement establishes the term annual comprehensive financial report and its 
acronym ACFR. That new term and acronym replace instances of comprehensive annual financial 
report and its acronym in generally accepted accounting principles for state and local governments. 
The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2021. 

 In April 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 99, “Omnibus 2022”. This Statement enhances 
comparability in accounting and financial reporting and improves consistency of authoritative 
literature by addressing (1) practice issues that have been identified during implementation and 
application of certain GASB Statements and (2) accounting and financial reporting for financial 
guarantees. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years ending after June 15, 
2022. 

 In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 100, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – 
An Amendment of GASB Statement No. 62”. This Statement enhances accounting and financial 
reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to provide more 
understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or 
assessing accountability. The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years ending 
after June 15, 2023. 

 In June 2022, the GASB issued Statement No. 101, “Compensated Absences”. This Statement 
updates the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences. The requirements 
of this Statement are effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2023. 

 
17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
The Lottery has evaluated all transactions occurring after the statement of net position as of June 30, 2021, 
for items that could potentially be recognized or disclosed in the financial statements. The following events 
were noted:  
 
JOINT PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PUERTO RICO 
 
On January 18, 2022, the United States District Court for the District of Puerto Rico entered its “Order and 
Judgment Confirming Modified Eight Amended Title III Joint Plan of Adjustment of the Commonwealth of 
Puerto Rico, the Employees Retirement System of the Government of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, 
and the Puerto Rico Public Buildings Authority” (the “Confirmation Order”). Pursuant to paragraph 25 of the 
Confirmation Order, the Lottery was directed to transfer $20 million in funds and proceeds of liquid 
securities held on account to the Puerto Rico Single Treasury Account. 
 
On January 27, 2022, the Puerto Rico Fiscal Agency and Financial Advisory Authority (“AAFAF”) jointly 
with the Department of Treasury and the Office of Management and Budget issued joint Circular Letter No. 
2022-001, to notify agencies and instrumentalities of the Government of Puerto Rico their obligations under 
the Confirmation Order and establish the deadline to transfer funds in accordance therewith. On February 
8, 2022, the Lottery complied with Joint Circular Letter 2022-001 by transferring $20 million to the Puerto 
Rico Single Treasury Account. 
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(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Notes to the Basic Financial Statements (Continued) 
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 

 
17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
On March 15, 2022, the conditions precedent to the Effective Date of the Commonwealth Plan of 
Adjustment were satisfied and/or waived by the Oversight Board, and the plan became effective. 
Accordingly, the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment has been confirmed and is currently effective as of the 
date hereof. 
 
All Commonwealth laws that required the transfer of funds from the Commonwealth to other entities, 
including laws providing appropriations to GDB, are deemed preempted, and the Commonwealth has no 
obligation to transfer additional amounts pursuant to those laws. In addition, the Commonwealth Plan of 
Adjustment discharges any claim related to budgetary appropriations, including appropriations for the 
repayment of the Puerto Rico Public Finance Corporation Bonds and certain loans held by the Public Entity 
Trust (PET). 
 
HURRICANE FIONA 
 
On September 17, 2022, Puerto Rico was directly impacted by Hurricane Fiona leaving in its path the 
destruction of homes, knocking out power across the entire island, and flooding many streets and roads. 
The Governor of Puerto Rico submitted to the Government of the United States a request for a declaration 
of a major disaster and the activation of funds from the Public Assistance program of FEMA. At the date of 
the issuance of the Financial Statements, the Lottery has not determined the effects that Hurricane Fiona 
may have on the basic financial statements and the result of operations. 

 
18. CASH FLOW PRESENTATION 
 
During fiscal year 2021, the Lottery discovered that cash flows from non-capital financial activities had been 
reported as cash flows from operating activities in its 2020 statement of cash flows. There is no impact on 
the Lottery’s Net Position. The 2021 cash flow presentation discloses the restated balance as follows: 

As previously 
reported Adjustments As restated

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Cash Received From Retailers, Net of Commissions and Incentives $321,444,808 $3,319,756 $318,125,052

Cash Paid for Prizes and Related Taxes (240,128,213) -                   (240,128,213)

Cash Paid to Suppliers for Goods and Services (14,053,667) -                   (14,053,667)

Cash Paid to Employees (1,291,445) -                   (1,291,445)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 65,971,483 3,319,756 62,651,727

Cash Flows From Non-Capital Financing Activities

Payments to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (48,866,495) (3,319,756) (45,546,739)

Amount Due to the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (7,783,455) -                   (7,783,455)

Net Cash Used in Non-Capital Financing Activities (56,649,950) (3,319,756) (53,330,194)

Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents $9,321,533 -                   $9,321,533
 

 
END OF NOTES 
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Proportionate Share 

of the Total Pension Liability 
 

 
 

Last Four Fiscal Years (Amounts were determined as of June 30 of each year) 
 
 
 
 
 

Description 2021* 2020* 2019* 2018*

Proportion of Total Pension Liability 0.00058% 0.00058% 0.00053% 0.00057%

Proportionate Share of Total Pension Liability 163,458$        144,588$        128,689$        161,414$        

*The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous fiscal year end.

See notes to required supplemetary information and accompanying  independent auditors' report.

Fiscal year 2019 was the first year that the Lottery transitioned from GASB No. 68 to No. GASB 73, as result of the PayGo implementation. This
schedule is required to illustrate 10 years of information. However, until a 10-year trend has been completed, information is presented only for the
years for which the required supplementary information is available.

There are no assets accumulated in a trust for payment of defined pension benefits participants, and the plan is not administered through a trust 
or equivalent arrangement.
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Required Supplementary Information 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of 

Total Other Postemployment Benefit Liability 
 

 
 

Last Four Fiscal Years (Amounts were determined as of June 30 of each year) 
 
 
 
 

 
Description 2021* 2020* 2019* 2018*

Proportion of Total Other Postemployment Benefit Liability 0.00176% 0.00174% 0.00172% 0.00115%

Proportionate Share of Total Other Postemployment Benefit Liability 15,394$          14,473$          14,448$          10,610$          

*The amounts presented have a measurement date of the previous fiscal year end.

See notes to required supplemetary information and accompanying  independent auditors' report.

Fiscal year 2018 was the first year that the new requirements of GASB 75 were implemented at the Lottery. This schedule is required to illustrate
10 years of information. However, until a 10-year trend has been completed, information is presented only for the years for which the required
supplementary information is available.

There are no assets accumulated in a trust for payment of OPEB related benefits, and the plan is not administered through a trust or equivalent 
arrangement.
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The Additional Lottery System 
(An Enterprise Fund of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 

 

Notes to Required Supplementary Information 
 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2021 

 
On August 23, 2017, the Governor of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico signed into law the Act to 
Guarantee the Payment to Our Pensioners and Establish New Plan Defined Contributions for Public 
Servants (Act No. 106-2017). Act No. 106-2017 established the pay-as-you-go mechanism effective July 
1, 2017, for all the Commonwealth’s pension plans. Accordingly, no assets are accumulated in a qualifying 
trust. 
 
Changes in actuarial assumptions 
 
There was a change in the actuarial assumptions or inputs in the determination of the total pension liability 
as a result of the decrease in the discount rate as follows: 
 

 In the revised June 30, 2020 actuarial valuation, there was a decrease relating to the discount rate 
from 3.50% in 2019 to 2.21% in 2020. 

 In the revised June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation, there was a decrease relating to the discount rate 
from 3.87% in 2018 to 3.50% in 2019. 

 In the revised June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation, there was an increase relating to the discount rate 
from 3.58% in 2017 to 3.87% in 2018.  

 In the revised June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation, there was an increase relating to the discount rate 
from 2.85% in 2016 to 3.58% in 2017. 

 
Also, the postretirement and preretirement mortality assumptions were revised as follows: 
 
The postretirement mortality assumptions were revised based on an experience study covering the period 
from July 1, 2013, through June 30, 30, 2018. The base mortality rates reflect the Society of Actuaries Pub-
2010 mortality tables, which were published in January 2019 and are based on public experience. For 
healthy retirees and beneficiaries prior to the member’s death, the postretirement mortality rates were 
revised to 100% and 110% of the Pub-2010 general healthy retiree mortality table for males and females, 
respectively. For disabled retirees, the postretirement mortality base rates were revised to 80% and 100% 
of the Pub-2010 general disable retiree mortality table for males and females, respectively. For 
beneficiaries after the retirees’ death, the postretirement mortality base rates were revised to 110% and 
120% of the Pub-2010 general below median contingent survivor mortality table for males and females, 
respectively. 
 
The preretirement mortality assumption was also revised. For general employees not covered under Act 
127-1958, the preretirement mortality base rates were revised to 100% and 110% of the Pub-2010 general 
employee mortality table for males and females, respectively. For members covered under Act 127-1958, 
the preretirement mortality base rates were revised to the Pub-2010 public safety employee rates. 
 
In addition, the projected mortality improvement scale was updated from Scale MP-2019 to Scale MP-2020. 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Administrator of
 The Additional Lottery System
San Juan, Puerto Rico

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of The Additional
Lottery System  (from now on the Lottery),  an enterprise fund of the commonwealth of Puerto Rico, as
of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes to the basic financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Lottery's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon
dated November 15, 2022. 

As discussed in Note 1, the basic financial statements of the Lottery are intended to present the
financial position, and the changes in financial position of only that portion of the governmental
activities of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico attributable to the transactions of the Lottery. It does not
intend to, and does not present fairly, the financial position and changes in financial position of the
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Lottery's internal
control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Lottery's internal control. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Lottery's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of the Lottery's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a
timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control
that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance. 
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Internal Control Over Financial Reporting (Continued)

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Lottery's financial statements are free
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statements amounts. However, providing an opinion on
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express
such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that
are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Lottery's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Lottery's internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.  

Torres, Hernández & Punter, CPA, PSC
Certified Public Accountants

Carolina, Puerto Rico

November 15, 2022

Stamp #E501719 of the 
College of CPA's of
Puerto Rico is affixed
to the original.


